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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 The management of PHILIPPINE VETERANS BANK (the Bank) is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated and parent company financial statements for the years 
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, including the additional components attached therein, in 
accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. The responsibility includes designing and 
implementing internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated and 
parent company financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances. 

 The Board of Directors (BOD) reviews and approves the consolidated and parent company 
financial statements and submits the same to the stockholders. 

 SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the BOD and approved by 
the stockholders, has examined the consolidated and parent company financial statements of the Bank 
in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the BOD and stockholders, 
has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such examination.

ROBERTO F. DE OCAMPO, OBE
Chairman of the Board

JOEY A. BERMUDEZ
President and Chief Executive Officer

ATTY. JOSE NERIO A. SALAMILLAS
Senior Vice President/Comptroller

Signed this 8th day of April, 2014.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Philippine Veterans Bank

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Philippine Veterans Bank and Subsidiaries (the 
Group) and of Philippine Veterans Bank (the Parent Company), which comprise the consolidated and the parent 
company statements of financial position as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated and the parent 
company statements of income, the consolidated and the parent company statements of comprehensive income, 
the consolidated and the parent company statements of changes in equity and the consolidated and the parent 
company statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our qualified audit opinion.

Bases for the Qualified Opinion

As discussed in Note 28 to the consolidated and the parent company financial statements, the required 
allowance for impairment and credit losses on Interbank call loans (IBCL) totaling P=1,669.60 million 
granted to a thrift bank, and on Accounts receivable totaling P=907.26 million, representing the uninsured 
deposits of a thrift bank assumed by the Parent Company, were deferred and are being amortized
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over 20 years as approved by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP). The Parent Company recognized 
provision for impairment and credit losses amounting to P=103.07 million for each of the years 2013, 
2012 and 2011, representing the amortization of the required allowance.  The Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards require that the required allowance on the IBCL and Accounts receivable be 
charged against the respective years when the losses were incurred.  Had such provision for impairment 
and credit losses been charged to the proper accounting period, the Group and the Parent Company’s 
net income for each of the years 2013, 2012 and 2011 would have been increased by P=72.15 million, 
net of related deferred income tax, and both the surplus and total assets would have been decreased 
by P=1,499.10 million and P=1,563.30 million as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

In 2011, the Parent Company recognized additional provision for impairment and credit losses 
amounting to P=116.11 million and charged this directly to surplus. The Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards require that provision for impairment and credit losses be charged against current operations. 
Had such provision for impairment and credit losses been charged to 2011 operations, the Group and 
the Parent Company’s net income in 2011 would have been decreased by P=116.11 million.

Qualified Opinion  

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the Bases for Qualified Opinion 
paragraphs, the consolidated and the parent company financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Group and of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2013 
and 2012 and their financial performance and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2013 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on the Supplementary Information Required under Revenue Regulations 15-2010

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole.  The supplementary information required under Revenue Regulations 15-2010 in Note 
32 to the financial statements is presented for purposes of filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue 
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of the 
management of the Parent Company.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in our audit of the basic financial statements.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Janet A. Paraiso
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 92305
SEC Accreditation No. 0778-AR-1 (Group A),
 February 2, 2012, valid until February 1, 2015
Tax Identification No. 193-975-241
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-62-2012,
 April 11, 2012, valid until April 10, 2015
PTR No. 4225147, January 2, 2014, Makati City

April 8, 2014
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1. Corporate Information

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Notes to Financial Statements

PHILPPINE VETERANS BANK AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Philippine Veterans Bank (the Parent Company) operates as a domestic commercial bank and 
provides services such as deposit-taking, loans and trade finance, domestic and foreign fund 
transfers, treasury, foreign exchange and trust services. The principal place of business of the 
Parent Company is at 101 V.A. Rufino corner Dela Rosa Streets, Legaspi Village, Makati City.

On June 18, 1963, the Philippine Veterans Bank was created with the enactment of Philippine 
Republic Act (RA) No. 3518, which became its charter.

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets that are 
measured at fair value.

The financial statements of the Parent Company include the accounts maintained in the Regular 
Banking Unit (RBU) and Foreign Currency Deposit Unit (FCDU).

The functional currency of the RBU and FCDU is Philippine peso and United States dollar (USD), 
respectively. For financial reporting purposes, FCDU accounts and foreign currency-denominated 
accounts in the RBU are translated into their equivalents in Philippine peso, which is the Group’s 
presentation currency (see accounting policy on Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation).  
The financial statements individually prepared for these units are combined after eliminating             
inter-unit accounts.

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and the items included in the 
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The functional 
currency of each of the Parent Company’s subsidiaries is the Philippine peso.

The financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period. In 
addition, the Group and Parent Company presents an additional statement of financial position at the 
beginning of the earliest period presented when there is a retrospective application of an accounting 
policy, a retrospective restatement, or a reclassification of items in the financial statements. An 
additional statement of financial position as at January 1, 2012 is presented in these financial 
statements due to retrospective application of the amendments to PAS 19, Employee Benefits.

Statement of Compliance
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS), except for the (a) deferral and staggered recognition of the required 
allowance for impairment and credit losses on Interbank call loans (IBCL) and Accounts receivable 
from a thrift bank over 20 years as approved by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), as discussed 
in Note 28, and (b) recognition of additional provision for impairment and credit losses in 2011 
charged directly to 2011 Surplus, as discussed in Note 13.
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Presentation of Financial Statements
The Group and the Parent Company present their statement of financial position broadly in order 
of liquidity.  An analysis regarding expected recovery or settlement of assets and liabilities within 
12 months after the reporting date (current) and more than 12 months after the reporting date                                
(non-current) is presented in Note 18.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of 
financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liability simultaneously.  
Income and expense are not offset in the statement of income unless required or permitted by an 
accounting standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the 
Group.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the 
adoption of the following new and amended standards effective January 1, 2013. Unless otherwise 
indicated, the adoption of the following new and amended standards and interpretations did not have 
an impact on the Group’s financial statements.

PAS 19, Employee Benefits (Revised)
On 1 January 2013, the Group adopted the Revised PAS 19, Employee Benefits.

For defined benefit plans, the Revised PAS 19 requires all actuarial gains and losses to be recognized in 
other comprehensive income and unvested past service costs previously recognized over the average 
vesting period to be recognized immediately in profit or loss when incurred.

Prior to adoption of the Revised PAS 19, the Group recognized actuarial gains and losses as income 
or expense when the net cumulative unrecognized gains and losses for each individual plan at the 
end of the previous period exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair 
value of the plan assets and recognized unvested past service costs as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the average vesting period until the benefits become vested. Upon adoption of the Revised 
PAS 19, the Group changed its accounting policy to recognize all actuarial gains and losses in other 
comprehensive income and all past service costs in profit or loss in the period they occur.

The Revised PAS 19 replaced the interest cost and expected return on plan assets with the concept of 
net interest on defined benefit liability or asset which is calculated by multiplying the net balance sheet 
defined benefit liability or asset by the discount rate used to measure the employee benefit obligation, 
each as at the beginning of the annual period.

The Revised PAS 19 also amended the definition of short-term employee benefits and requires 
employee benefits to be classified as short-term based on expected timing of settlement rather 
than the employee’s entitlement to the benefits. In addition, the Revised PAS 19 modifies the timing 
of recognition for termination benefits. The modification requires the termination benefits to be 
recognized at the earlier of when the offer cannot be withdrawn or when the related restructuring costs 
are recognized.

Changes to definition of short-term employee benefits and timing of recognition for termination benefits 
do not have any impact to the Group’s financial position and financial performance.

Veterans Bank 2013 AR
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Notes to Financial Statements

The Group has opted to close to Surplus the effect of all transition adjustments as at                                      
January 1, 2011 (the transition date) amounting to P=1.69 million.  Moving forward, the Group will 
retain the remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income and will not transfer these 
to other items in equity.

The changes in accounting policies have been applied retrospectively.  The effects of adoption on 
the financial statements of the Group and the Parent Company are as follows:

PFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities (Amendments)
These amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights of set-off and related 
arrangements (such as collateral agreements). The new disclosures are required for all recognized 
financial instruments that are set off in accordance with PAS 32. These disclosures also apply to 
recognized financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement 
or ‘similar agreement’, irrespective of whether they are set-off in accordance with PAS 32.  The 
amendments require entities to disclose, in a tabular format, unless another format is more 
appropriate, the following minimum quantitative information. This is presented separately for 
financial assets and financial liabilities recognized at the end of the reporting period:

a) The gross amounts of those recognized financial assets and recognized financial liabilities;
b) The amounts that are set off in accordance with the criteria in PAS 32 when determining  the net 
    amounts presented in the statement of financial position;
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c) The net amounts presented in the statement of financial position;
d) The amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that 
    are not otherwise included in (b) above, including:
 i. Amounts related to recognized financial instruments that do not meet some or all of the
    offsetting criteria in PAS 32; and
 ii. Amounts related to financial collateral (including cash collateral); and
e) The net amount after deducting the amounts in (d) from the amounts in (c) above.

The amendments affect disclosures only and have no impact on the Group’s financial position or 
performance.  The additional disclosures required by the amendments are presented in Note 29 to the 
financial statements.

PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements
PFRS 10 replaced the portion of PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, that 
addressed the accounting for consolidated financial statements. It also included the issues raised 
in SIC 12, Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities. PFRS 10 established a single control model that 
applied to all entities including special purpose entities. The changes introduced by PFRS 10 require 
management to exercise significant judgment to determine which entities are controlled, and therefore, 
are required to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the requirements that were in PAS 27. 

PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements 
PFRS 11 replaced PAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC 13, Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-
Monetary Contributions by Venturers. PFRS 11 removed the option to account for jointly controlled 
entities using proportionate consolidation.  Instead, jointly controlled entities that meet the definition 
of a joint venture must be accounted for using the equity method.

PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
PFRS 12 sets out the requirements for disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, 
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities. The requirements in PFRS 12 are more 
comprehensive than the previously existing disclosure requirements for subsidiaries (for example, 
where a subsidiary is controlled with less than a majority of voting rights). 

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement
PFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under PFRSs for all fair value measurements.  PFRS 
13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how 
to measure fair value under PFRS.  PFRS 13 defines fair value as an exit price. PFRS 13 also requires 
additional disclosures.

As a result of the guidance in PFRS 13, the Group re-assessed its policies for measuring fair values, 
in particular, its valuation inputs such as non-performance risk for fair value measurement of liabilities.  
The Group has assessed that the application of PFRS 13 has not materially impacted the fair value 
measurements of the Group. Additional disclosures, where required, are provided in the individual 
notes relating to the assets and liabilities whose fair values were determined. Fair value hierarchy is 
provided in Note 5.

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income or OCI (Amendments)
The amendments to PAS 1 introduced a grouping of items presented in OCI.  Items that will be 
reclassified (or “recycled”) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition 
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or settlement) will be presented separately from items that will never be recycled.  The amendments 
affect presentation only and have no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011)
As a consequence of the issuance of the new PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and 
PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, what remains of PAS 27 is limited to accounting 
for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and associates in the separate financial statements. The 
adoption of the amended PAS 27 did not have a significant impact on the separate financial statements 
of the entities in the Group. 

PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011) 
As a consequence of the issuance of the new PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, and PFRS 12, Disclosure 
of Interests in Other Entities, PAS 28 has been renamed PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures, and describes the application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition 
to associates.  

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 20, Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine This 
interpretation applies to waste removal (stripping) costs incurred in surface mining activity during the 
production phase of the mine. The interpretation addresses the accounting for the benefit from the 
stripping activity. 

PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - Government Loans 
(Amendments)
The amendments to PFRS 1 require first-time adopters to apply the requirements of PAS 20, Accounting 
for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, prospectively to government loans 
existing at the date of transition to PFRS.  However, entities may choose to apply the requirements 
of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and PAS 20 to government loans 
retrospectively if the information needed to do so had been obtained at the time of initially accounting 
for those loans.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2009-2011 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2009-2011 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary amendments 
to PFRSs.  The Group adopted these amendments for the current year.  Except as otherwise indicated, 
the adoption of these improvements did not have an impact on the Group’s financial statements.

PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of PFRS - Borrowing Costs
The amendment clarifies that, upon adoption of PFRS, an entity that capitalized borrowing costs in 
accordance with its previous generally accepted accounting principles, may carry forward, without 
any adjustment, the amount previously capitalized in its opening statement of financial position at the 
date of transition. Subsequent to the adoption of PFRS, borrowing costs are recognized in accordance 
with PAS 23, Borrowing Costs.

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Clarification of the requirements for comparative 
information
These amendments clarify the requirements for comparative information that are disclosed voluntarily 
and those that are mandatory due to retrospective application of an accounting policy, or retrospective 
restatement or reclassification of items in the financial statements.  An entity must include comparative 
information in the related notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative 
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information beyond the minimum required comparative period. The additional comparative period 
does not need to contain a complete set of financial statements.  On the other hand, supporting notes 
for the third balance sheet (mandatory when there is a retrospective application of an accounting 
policy, or retrospective restatement or reclassification of items in the financial statements) are not 
required.

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment - Classification of servicing equipment
The amendment clarifies that spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment should be 
recognized as property, plant and equipment when they meet the definition of property, plant and 
equipment and should be recognized as inventory if otherwise.  

PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation - Tax effect of distribution to holders of equity
instruments
The amendment clarifies that income taxes relating to distributions to equity holders and to transaction 
costs of an equity transaction are accounted for in accordance with PAS 12, Income Taxes. 

PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Interim financial reporting and segment information for total 
assets and liabilities
The amendment clarifies that the total assets and liabilities for a particular reportable segment need to 
be disclosed only when the amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker and 
there has been a material change from the amount disclosed in the entity’s previous annual financial 
statements for that reportable segment.  

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements, which include the financial statements of the Parent Company 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”), are prepared for the same reporting 
year as the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. The financial statements of the 
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company using consistent 
accounting policies.

All significant intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting 
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Parent Company. 
Control is achieved where the Parent Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its 
involvement with an entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
The Parent Company has power over the entity when it has existing rights that give it the current ability 
to direct relevant activities (i.e., activities that signicantly affect the entity’s returns). Consolidation of 
subsidiaries ceases when control is transferred out of the Parent Company. The results of subsidiaries 
acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated statement of income from 
the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 the Parent Company has two subsidiaries, namely Intervest 
Projects, Inc. (IPI) and Veterans Venture Capital Corp., for which the Parent Company has 100% and 
60% ownership respectively (see Note 9).  IPI has a wholly owned subsidiary, Intervest Insurance 
Agency, Inc. 

Non-controlling Interest
Non-controlling interest represents the portion of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not owned, 
directly or indirectly, by the Group.  Non-controlling interest is presented separately in the consolidated 
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statement of income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately 
from the Parent Company’s equity.  Any losses applicable to the non-controlling interest in excess of 
the non-controlling interest are allocated against the interest of the non-controlling interest even if this 
results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.  Acquisitions of non-controlling interests 
that does not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transaction, whereby the difference 
between the consideration and the fair value of the share of net assets acquired is recognized as an 
equity transaction and attributed to the owners of the Parent Company.

Significant Accounting Policies

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation
Transactions and balances
The books of accounts of the RBU are maintained in Philippine peso, while those of the FCDU are 
maintained in USD.  For financial reporting purposes, foreign currency-denominated monetary assets 
and liabilities of the RBU are translated into Philippine peso based on the Philippine Dealing System 
(PDS) closing rate prevailing at the reporting date.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the transaction dates.  Foreign exchange differences are recognized in the statement of income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at 
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined.

FCDU
As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of FCDU are translated into Philippine peso at the 
prevailing PDS closing rate, and its income and expenses are translated at the PDS weighted average 
rates for the year. Exchange differences arising on translation are taken to other comprehensive 
income, and presented as ‘Cumulative Translation Adjustment’ in the statement of financial position.

Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either:

(a) In the principal market for the asset or liability, or  
(b) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 
interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
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The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs. All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed 
in the financial statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

(a) Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
          liabilities
(b) Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
          value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
(c) Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
          value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on 
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above. 

Financial Instruments - Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement
Date of recognition
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the settlement date - the date that 
an asset is delivered to or by the Group.  Securities transactions are also recognized on settlement 
date basis.  Deposits, amounts due to banks and customers and loans and receivables are recognized 
when cash is received by the Group or advanced to the borrowers.

Initial recognition of financial instruments
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value.  Except for financial 
assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, the initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 
includes transaction costs.  The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 
financial assets at FVPL, held to maturity (HTM) financial assets, AFS financial assets, and loans 
and receivables.  The financial liabilities, on the other hand, are classified into financial liabilities at 
FVPL and other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial 
instruments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market and for HTM financial 
assets, the ability and intention to hold the investment until maturity.  Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates 
such designation at every reporting date.

‘Day 1’ difference
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value based on other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique 
whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference 
between the transaction price and fair value (‘Day 1’ difference) in the statement of income unless it 
qualifies for recognition as some other type of assets.  In cases where use is made of data which is 
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not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the 
statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For 
each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ difference 
amount.

Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading
Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading are recorded in the statement of financial position 
at fair value. Realized and unrealized gains and losses relating to the held-for-trading positions are 
recognized in ‘Trading gains - net’ in the statement of income.  Interest earned or incurred is recorded 
using the effective interest method in ‘Interest income or expense’, respectively, while dividend income 
is recorded in ‘Other operating income’ in the statement of income when the right to receive payment 
has been established.

Included in this classification are debt securities which have been acquired principally for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing in the near term.

Financial assets or financial liabilities designated at FVPL
Financial assets or financial liabilities classified in this category are designated by management on 
initial recognition when the following criteria are met:

•  The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise   
    arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different 
    basis; or
•  The assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which
      are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a  documented 
    risk management or investment strategy; or
•  The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does 
    not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be 
    separately recorded.

Designated financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial 
position at fair value.  Changes in fair value are recorded in ‘Trading gains - net’ in the statement of 
income.  Interest earned or incurred is recorded in ‘Interest income or expense’, respectively, while 
dividend income is recorded in ‘Other operating income’ in the statement of income according to the 
terms of the contract, or when the right of the payment has been established.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Group and the Parent Company do not have financial
assets and liabilities designated as at FVPL.

HTM financial assets
HTM financial assets are quoted, non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities for which the Group’s management has the positive intention ad ability to hold 
to maturity.  Where the Group would sell other than an insignificant amount of HTM financial assets, 
the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as AFS financial assets and the Group would be 
prohibited to classify any financial assets as HTM investments for the following two years.
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After initial measurement, these investments are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment in value.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate (EIR).  The amortization is included in ‘Interest income’ in the statement of income.  Gains 
and losses are recognized in the statement of income when the HTM financial assets are derecognized 
or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.  The losses arising from impairment of such 
investments are recognized in the statement of income under ‘Provision for impairment and credit 
losses’.

Loans and receivables
This accounting policy relates to the statement of financial position captions ‘Loans and receivables’, 
‘Due from BSP’, ‘Due from other banks’ and ‘Interbank loans receivables (IBLR) and securities 
purchased under resale agreements (SPURA)’. These are non derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market. They are not 
entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and as such are not classified as 
financial assets held for trading, designated as financial assets at FVPL or AFS financial assets.

After initial measurement, ‘Loans and receivables’ is subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR.  The amortization is included in ‘Interest income’ in the statement of income.  The losses arising 
from impairment are recognized in ‘Provision for impairment and credit losses’ in the statement of 
income.

AFS financial assets
AFS financial assets are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified or 
designated as financial assets at FVPL, HTM financial assets or loans and receivables. They are 
purchased and held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in 
market conditions. They include equity investments and other debt instruments.

After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. The unrealized 
gains and losses arising from the fair valuation of AFS financial assets are reported in ‘Net unrealized 
gains (losses) on AFS financial assets’ as other comprehensive income.

When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income is recognized as ‘Trading gains - net’ in the statement of income.  Where 
the Group holds more than one investment in the same security, these are deemed to be disposed 
of on a specific identification basis.  Interests earned on holding AFS financial assets are reported 
in ‘Interest income’ in the statement of income using the EIR.  Dividends earned on holding AFS 
financial assets are recognized in the statement of income as ‘Other operating income’ when the right 
to receive payment has been established.  The losses arising from impairment of such investments are 
recognized in ‘Provision for impairment and credit losses’ in the statement of income.

Other Financial Liabilities
Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated as financial liabilities at 
FVPL, are classified as liabilities under ‘Deposit liabilities’, ‘Bills payable’ or other appropriate financial 
liability accounts, where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having 
an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation 
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other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number 
of own equity shares.  The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and 
equity elements are accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual 
amount after deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair 
value of the liability component on the date of issue.  After initial measurement, other financial liabilities 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  Amortized cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral 
part of the EIR.

Reclassification of Financial Assets
A financial asset is reclassified out of the FVPL category when the following conditions are met:

•  the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;    
    and
•  there is a rare circumstance.

A financial asset that is reclassified out of the FVPL category is reclassified at its fair value on the date 
of reclassification.  Any gain or loss already recognized in the statement of income is not reversed.  
The fair value of the financial asset on the date of reclassification becomes its new cost or amortized 
cost, as applicable.

For financial assets reclassified out of the AFS category to HTM investments, any previous gain or 
loss on that asset that has been recognized under other comprehensive income is amortized to the 
statement of income over the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest method.  Any 
difference between the new amortized cost and the expected cash flows is also amortized over the 
remaining life of the asset using effective interest method. If the asset is subsequently determined to 
be impaired then the amount recorded under other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement 
of income.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) 
is derecognized when:

•  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
•  the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to
    pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass - through” arrangement; or
•  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
    transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
    retained the risk and rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 
a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of 
the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
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guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset 
and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of 
income.

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date (‘repos’) are not derecognized 
from the statement of financial position.  The corresponding cash received, including accrued interest, 
is recognized in the statement of financial position as securities sold under repurchase agreement in 
‘Other liabilities’, reflecting the economic substance of such transaction.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date are not 
recognized in the statement of financial position. The corresponding cash paid, including  accrued 
interest, is recognized in the statement of financial position in ‘IBLR and SPURA’. The difference 
between the purchase price and resale price is treated as interest income and is accrued over the life 
of the agreement using the effective interest method.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to 
be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss 
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group 
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include indications 
that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults.

Financial assets at amortized cost 
For financial assets at amortized cost which includes HTM financial assets, Loans and receivables 
(except for the IBCL and accounts receivable from a thrift bank), Due from BSP, IBLR and SPURA 
and Due from other banks, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists 
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets 
that are not individually significant.  If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been 
incurred, the amount of loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred).  If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for individually 
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets 
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses for impairment.  Those characteristics 
are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of 
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the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being 
evaluated.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, 
or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment for impairment.

The estimated future cash flows are discounted at the financial asset’s original EIR.  If a loan has a 
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current EIR, adjusted 
for the original credit risk premium.  The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows of a collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less 
costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account and the amount of 
loss is charged to the statement of income.  Interest income continues to be recognized based on the 
original EIR of the asset.  Loans, together with the associated allowance accounts, are written off when 
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.  If, in a subsequent 
year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is credited to ‘Provision for 
impairment and credit losses’ in the statement of income and the allowance account is reduced. If 
a future write-off is later recovered, any amounts formerly charged are credited to the ‘Provision for 
impairment and credit losses’ in the statement of income.

In 2011, the Parent Company recognized additional impairment and credit losses directly to Surplus 
(see Note 13).

For the purpose of collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of 
such credit risk characteristics as industry, collateral type, past due status and term. Future cash flows 
in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis 
of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Parent 
Company.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect 
the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience 
is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.  
Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with changes in 
related observable data from period to period (such changes in property prices, payment status, or 
other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the Parent Company and their magnitude). The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the 
Parent Company to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Impairment of IBCL and accounts receivable from a thrift bank
The required allowance for impairment and credit losses on IBCL and accounts receivable, representing 
assumed uninsured deposits from a thrift bank, are deferred and amortized over 20 years as approved 
by the BSP.  

Restructured loans
Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. 
This may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions.  
Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due. Management 
continuously reviews restructured loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are 
likely to occur.  The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, 
calculated using the loan’s original EIR. The difference between the recorded value of the original loan 
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and the present value of the restructured cash flows, discounted at the original EIR, is recognized in 
‘Provision for impairment and credit losses’ in the statement of income.

AFS financial assets
For AFS financial assets, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

In case of equity investments classified as AFS financial assets, this would include a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below its cost.  Where there is evidence of 
impairment, the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the statement 
of income, is removed from statement of comprehensive income and is recognized in the statement of 
income.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the statement of income.  
Increases in fair value after impairment are recognized as other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS financial assets, impairment is assessed based on 
the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost.  Future interest income is based on the 
reduced amount and is accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount future cash flows for the 
purpose of measuring impairment loss.  Such accrual is recorded as ‘Interest income’ in the statement 
of income.  If, in subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increased and the increase can 
be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the statement 
of income, the impairment loss is reversed through the statement of income.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met 
before revenue is recognized:

Interest income
For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing financial instruments 
classified as AFS financial assets, interest income is recorded at the EIR, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability.  The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument, 
including any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an 
integral part of the EIR, but not future credit losses.  The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based 
on the original EIR.  The change in carrying amount is recorded as ‘Interest income’ in the statement 
of income. Once the recorded value of a financial asset or group of similar financial assets has been 
reduced due to an impairment loss, interest income continues to be recognized using the original EIR
applied to the new carrying amount.

Service fees and commissions
Fees charged for servicing a loan are recognized as revenue as the services are provided. Loan 
commitment fees are recognized as earned over the terms of the credit lines granted to each borrower.  
Loan syndication fees are recognized upon completion of all syndication activities and where the 
Group does not have further obligations to perform under the syndication agreement.

Veterans Bank 2013 AR
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Service charges and penalties are recognized only upon collection or accrued where there is a 
reasonable degree of certainty as to their collectibility.

Rental income
Rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 
terms on ongoing operating leases.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Trading gains and losses
Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value of financial 
assets at FVPL and gains and losses from disposal of financial assets held for trading and AFS financial 
assets.  Cost of securities sold is determined using specific identification method.

Gains on sale of acquired assets and bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment 
Gains from sale of properties is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership has 
been transfered to the buyer, usually upon delivery. Gains are recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless 
of when the payment is being made.

Other income
Other income is recognized when earned and the collectibility is reasonably assured.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include Cash and other cash items, 
Due from BSP and other banks, and IBLR and SPURA with original maturities of three months or less 
from dates of placements and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Investments in Subsidiaries and an Associate
Investments in subsidiaries
Subsidiaries pertain to all entities over which the Group has control. Control is achieved when the 
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. When the Group has less than 
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

• the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

Investment in an associate
Associates are entities to which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. In the consolidated 
financial statements, investment in an associate is accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting.  Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the statement 
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of financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the 
associate, less accumulated impairment, if any. After application of the equity method, the Group 
determines whether it is necessary to recognize additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s 
net investment in the associate.  The consolidated statement of income reflects the share in the results 
of operations of the associate.

The investment in an associate in the parent company financial statements is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment, if any.  Dividends received are reported as dividend income under ‘Other 
operating income’ when the right to receive the payment is established.

Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment
Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value and depreciable properties, including buildings, 
leasehold improvements, and furniture, fixtures and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and amortization, and any impairment in value.  Such cost includes the cost of replacing 
part of the plant and equipment when that cost is incurred, if the recognition criteria are met, but 
excludes repairs and maintenance costs.

Depreciation is calculated using straight-line method over the estimated useful lives (EUL) of the 
depreciable assets.

The EUL of the property and equipment follows:

 Buildings 20-25 years
 Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
 Leasehold improvements 5 years or lease term, whichever is shorter

The depreciation and amortization methods and EUL are reviewed at least at each reporting date to 
ensure that the method and period of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected 
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) 
is included in the statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized.

Investment Properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. An investment 
property acquired through an exchange transaction is measured at fair value of the asset acquired 
unless the fair value of such an asset cannot be measured in which case the investment property 
acquired is measured at the carrying amount of asset given up.  Foreclosed properties are classified 
under ‘Investment properties’ in the statement of financial position upon: (a) entry of judgment in 
case of juridical foreclosure; (b) execution of the Sheriff’s Certificate of Sale in case of extra-judicial 
foreclosure; or (c) notarization of the Deed of Dacion in case of dation in payment (dacion en pago).

Subsequent to initial recognition, land is carried at cost less any impairment in value while depreciable 
investment properties are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.
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Investment properties are derecognized when they have either been disposed of or are permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its disposal.  Any gains or losses on the 
retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognized in the statement of income under 
‘Gain or loss on sale of acquired assets’ in the year of retirement or disposal.

Expenditures incurred after the investment properties have been put into operations, such as repairs 
and maintenance costs, are normally charged against current operations in the period in which the 
costs are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated for buildings and improvement on a straight-line basis over the EUL life of 
10 years from the time of acquisition.

Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use evidenced 
by ending of owner occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of 
construction or development.  Transfers are made from investment properties when, and only when, 
there is a change in use evidenced by commencement of owner occupation or commencement of 
development with a view to sale.

Software Costs
Software costs are capitalized on the basis of the cost incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software.  These costs, included in ‘Other assets’ in the statement of financial position, are amortized 
over five years on a straight-line basis.

Costs associated with maintaining the computer software programs are recognized as expense when 
incurred.

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that its nonfinancial assets 
(Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment , Investment properties and Software costs) may be 
impaired.  When an indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an asset 
is required, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s (or cash-generating unit’s) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount 
is assessed as part of the cash generating unit to which it belongs.  Where the carrying amount of an 
asset (or cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash generating unit) is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or 
cash generating unit).

An impairment loss is charged against operations in the year in which it arises.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to 
its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have 
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been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior 
years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, the 
depreciation expense is adjusted in future years to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less 
any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining life.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent 
on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. A 
reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

(a)  There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
(b)  A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension 
      was initially included in the lease term;
(c)  There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or
(d)  There is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the 
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, and at the 
date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).

Parent Company as lessee (Finance leases)
Finance leases, which transfer to the Parent Company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental 
to the ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the 
leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments and included in ‘Bank 
premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment’ with the corresponding liability to the lessor included in 
‘Accrued taxes, interest and other expenses’ in the statement of financial position.  Lease payments 
are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are recorded in 
‘Interest expense’ in the statement of income.

Capitalized lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets 
or the respective lease terms, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Parent Company will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term.

Group as lessee (Operating leases)
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risk and benefits of ownership of the assets 
are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the 
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as lessor (Operating leases)
Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risk and benefits of ownership of the 
assets are classified as operating leases.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating operating leases 
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same 
basis as the rental income.  Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they 
are earned.
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Retirement Cost
The Parent Company is covered by a funded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan (the Plan).  
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee 
will receive upon retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service 
and compensation. The Parent Company’s retirement cost is determined using the projected unit 
credit method. The retirement cost is generally funded through payments to a trustee-administered 
fund, determined by periodic actuarial calculations.

The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), adjusted 
for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling is the present 
value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future 
contributions to the plan.  The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially 
determined using the projected unit credit method.

Defined benefit costs comprise the following:

•  Service cost
•  Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
•  Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on nonroutine 
settlements are recognized as expense in the statement of income. Past service costs are recognized 
when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net 
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying 
the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset.  Net interest 
on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in the statement of 
income.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets (excluding net interest 
on defined benefit asset) and any change in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest 
on defined benefit liability) are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income in the period 
in which they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
All remeasurements recognized in the other comprehensive income account ‘Remeasurement gains 
(losses) on retirement plan’ are not reclassified to another equity account in subsequent periods.

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance 
policies. Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Parent Company, nor can they be paid 
directly to the Parent Company. Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information. When 
no market price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future 
cash flows using a discount rate that reflects both the risk associated with the plan assets and the 
maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period 
until the settlement of the related obligations).

The Parent Company’s right to be reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle 
a defined benefit obligation is recognized as a separate asset at fair value when and only when 
reimbursement is virtually certain.
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Termination benefit
Termination benefits are employee benefits provided in exchange for the termination of an employee’s 
employment as a result of either an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before 
the normal retirement date or an employee’s decision to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the 
termination of employment.

A liability and expense for a termination benefit is recognized at the earlier of when the entity can no 
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the entity recognizes the related restructuring 
costs. Initial recognition and subsequent changes to termination benefits are measured in accordance 
with the nature of the employee benefit, as either post-employment benefits, short-term employee 
benefits, or other long-term employee benefits.

Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlement to annual leave are recognized as a liability when the employees render the 
services that increases their annual leave enititlement. The cost of accumulating annual leave are 
measured as the additional amount that the Group expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement 
that has accumulated at the end of the reporting period.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance 
contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 
virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of income, net of 
any reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting 
is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized in ‘Interest expense’ in 
the statement of income.

Government Loans with Interest Rate Lower than Market
Government loans with interest rate lower than market are recognized initially at fair value and the 
difference between the fair value of the loan and the proceeds of the loan is considered a form of 
government grant initially recognized as Unearned income, included in Other liabilities, in the statement 
of financial position and is amortized as income in the profit and loss over the period of the loan using 
the effective interest method.

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are 
not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable.
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Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset.  All other borrowing costs are recognized as 
expense in the year in which these costs are incurred.

Income Taxes
Current income taxes
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation  authorities.  The tax rates and the tax laws used 
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred income taxes
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences at the reporting 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, with certain exceptions.  
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused 
tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate 
income tax (RCIT), and unused net operating loss  carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and 
carry forward of  unused MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized.  Deferred tax, however, is not  
recognized on temporary differences that arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the  transaction, affects neither the 
accounting income nor taxable income or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are not provided on non-taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in domestic subsidiaries and associates.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 
the deferred asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting 
date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to the period when 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted at the reporting date. 

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized in other comprehensive income are also 
recognized in other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred taxes related to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority.
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Earnings Per Share
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders for the year by 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year after giving retroactive 
effect to stock dividends declared and stock rights exercised during the year, if any.  The Group does 
not have any dilutive potential common shares.

Dividends on Common and Preferred Shares
Dividends on common or preferred shares are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity 
when approved by the Board of Directors (BOD) of the Parent Company.  Dividends declared after the 
reporting date are dealt with as an event after the reporting period.

Events after the Reporting Period
Any post-year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the 
reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Post-year-end events that 
are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed in the notes when material to the financial statements.

Fiduciary Activities
Assets and income arising from fiduciary activities, together with related undertakings to return such 
assets to customers, are excluded from the financial statements where the Parent Company acts in a 
fiduciary capacity such as nominee, trustee or agent.

Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value 
and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  For each business combination, the 
acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Acquisition costs incurred are expensed in the statement 
of income.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.  This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
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If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through 
the statement of income.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the 
acquisition date.  Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration, which is 
deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognized in accordance with PAS 39 either in the statement 
of income or as a change to other comprehensive income.  If the contingent consideration is classified 
as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred 
and the amount recognized for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed.  If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquired, the difference is recognized in the statement of income.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition 
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGU) that are expected to benefit from 
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those 
units.

Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.  Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance 
is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the CGU 
retained.

Equity
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued.  When the Parent Company issues more 
than one class of stock, a separate account is maintained for each class of stock and the number of 
shares issued.

When the shares are sold at a premium, the difference between the proceeds and the par value is 
credited to Additional paid-in capital account.  When shares are issued for a consideration other than 
cash, the proceeds are measured by the fair value of the consideration received.  In case the shares 
are issued to extinguish or settle the liability of the Parent Company, the shares shall be measured 
either at the fair value of the shares issued or fair value of the liability settled, whichever is more reliably 
determinable.

Surplus represents accumulated earnings less dividends declared.  The Parent Company Surplus 
represents accumulated earnings available for dividend declaration subject to certain adjustments per 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Memorandum Circular 11, Series of 2008. The Parent 
Company Surplus Reserves includes (1) portion of net income transferred from Surplus as required 
by the Parent Company’s by laws; and (2) portion of the Parent Company’s income from its trust 
operations transferred from Surplus as required by BSP.  The accumulated equity earnings from 
associates included in the surplus are available for dividend declaration when declared as dividends 
by the associates.
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Expense Recognition
Expenses are recognized in the statement of income when decrease in future economic benefit related 
to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.

Expenses are recognized in the statement of income:

•  On the basis of a direct association between the costs incurred and the earning of specific items of 
    income;
•  On the basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are  expected 
    to arise over several accounting periods and the association can only be broadly or indirectly 
    determined; or
•  Immediately when expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, and to the extent 
    that, future economic benefits do not qualify or cease to qualify, for recognition in the statements of 
    financial position as an asset.

New standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements 
are listed below. This is a listing of standards and interpretations issued, which the Group reasonably 
expects to be applicable at a future date. Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect 
the adoption of these new and amended standards to have a significant impact on the financial 
statements.

PAS 36, Impairment of Assets - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 
(Amendments)
These amendments remove the unintended consequences of PFRS 13 on the disclosures required 
under PAS 36. In addition, these amendments require disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the 
assets or cash-generating units (CGUs) for which impairment loss has been recognized or reversed 
during the period. These amendments are effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2014 with earlier application permitted, provided PFRS 13 is also applied. 

Investment Entities (Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 27)
These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. They provide 
an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment 
entity under PFRS 10. The exception to consolidation requires investment entities to account for 
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss.  

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 21, Levies (IFRIC 21)
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, 
as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon reaching a minimum 
threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be anticipated before the specified minimum 
threshold is reached. IFRIC 21 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 

PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Amendments)
These amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a derivative 
designated as a hedging instrument meets certain criteria. These amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.
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PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities (Amendments)
The amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” and also 
clarify the application of the PAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems (such as central clearing 
house systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous.  The amendments 
to PAS 32 are to be retrospectively applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.

PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments)
The amendments apply to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit plans. 
Contributions that are set out in the formal terms of the plan shall be accounted for as reductions to 
current service costs if they are linked to service or as part of the remeasurements of the net defined 
benefit asset or liability if they are not linked to service. Contributions that are discretionary shall be 
accounted for as reductions of current service cost upon payment of these contributions to the plans. 
The amendments to PAS 19 are to be retrospectively applied for annual periods beginning on or after 
July 1, 2014. 

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments
PFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first and third phases of the project to replace PAS 39 and applies to the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities and hedge accounting, respectively.  
Work on the second phase, which relate to impairment of financial instruments, and the limited 
amendments to the classification and measurement model is still ongoing, with a view to replace PAS 
39 in its entirety. PFRS 9 requires all financial assets to be measured at fair value at initial recognition. 
A debt financial asset may, if the fair value option (FVO) is not invoked, be subsequently measured at 
amortized cost if it is held within a business model that has the objective to hold the assets to collect 
the contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other debt instruments 
are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. All equity financial assets are measured 
at fair value either through other comprehensive income (OCI) or profit or loss. Equity financial assets 
held for trading must be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For liabilities designated as at 
FVPL using the fair value option, the amount of change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable to 
changes in credit risk must be presented in OCI. The remainder of the change in fair value is presented 
in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change relating to the entity’s own credit risk in 
OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. All other PAS 39 classification 
and measurement requirements for financial liabilities have been carried forward to PFRS 9, including 
the embedded derivative bifurcation rules and the criteria for using the FVO. The adoption of the first 
phase of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial 
assets, but will potentially have no impact on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. 

On hedge accounting, PFRS 9 replaces the rules-based hedge accounting model of PAS 39 with 
a more principles-based approach. Changes include replacing the rules-based hedge effectiveness 
test with an objectives-based test that focuses on the economic relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument, and the effect of credit risk on that economic relationship; allowing 
risk components to be designated as the hedged item, not only for financial items, but also for non-
financial items, provided that the risk component is separately identifiable and reliably measurable; 
and allowing the time value of an option, the forward element of a forward contract and any foreign 
currency basis spread to be excluded from the designation of a financial instrument as the hedging 
instrument and accounted for as costs of hedging. PFRS 9 also requires more extensive disclosures 
for hedge accounting.



49

Veterans Bank 2013 AR

PFRS 9 currently has no mandatory effective date. PFRS 9 may be applied before the completion of 
the limited amendments to the classification and measurement model and impairment methodology. 
The Group will not adopt the standard before the completion of the limited amendments and the 
second phase of the project.

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
This interpretation covers accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that undertake 
the construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors.  The SEC and the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council (FRSC) have deferred the effectivity of this interpretation until the final Revenue 
standard is issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and an evaluation of the 
requirements of the final Revenue standard against the practices of the Philippine real estate industry 
is completed.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2010-2012 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2010-2012 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary amendments 
to PFRSs.  Except otherwise indicated, the adoption of these improvements will nothave an impact on 
the Group’s financial statements.

PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Definition of Vesting Condition 
The amendment revised the definitions of vesting condition and market condition and added the 
definitions of performance condition and service condition to clarify various issues. This amendment 
shall be prospectively applied to share-based payment transactions for which the grant date is on or 
after July 1, 2014. 

PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business 
Combination
The amendment clarifies that a contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial 
instrument should be classified as a financial liability or as equity in accordance with PAS 32.  Contingent 
consideration that is not classified as equity is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or 
loss whether or not it falls within the scope of PFRS 9 (or PAS 39, if PFRS 9 is not yet adopted). The 
amendment shall be prospectively applied to business combinations for which the acquisition date is 
on or after July 1, 2014.

PFRS 8, Operating Segments - Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the Total 
of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s Assets
The amendments require entities to disclose the judgment made by management in aggregating 
two or more operating segments. This disclosure should include a brief description of the operating 
segments that have been aggregated in this way and the economic indicators that have been assessed 
in determining that the aggregated operating segments share similar economic characteristics. The 
amendments also clarify that an entity shall provide reconciliations of the total of the reportable 
segments’ assets to the entity’s assets if such amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 
and are applied retrospectively. The amendments affect disclosures only and have no impact on the 
Group’s financial position or performance. 

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Short-term Receivables and Payables
The amendment clarifies that short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rates can be 
held at invoice amounts when the effect of discounting is immaterial.
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PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment - Revaluation Method - Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated 
Depreciation
The amendment clarifies that, upon revaluation of an item of property, plant and equipment, the 
carrying amount of the asset shall be adjusted to the revalued amount, and the asset shall be treated 
in one of the following ways:

a.  The gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the 
     carrying amount of the asset. The accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is adjusted 
     to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and the carrying amount of the asset 
     after taking into account any accumulated impairment losses.
b.  The accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014. The  amendment 
shall apply to all revaluations recognized in annual periods beginning on or after the date of initial 
application of this amendment and in the immediately preceding annual period.

PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures - Key Management Personnel
The amendments clarify that an entity is a related party of the reporting entity if the said entity, or 
any member of a group for which it is a part of, provides key management personnel services to the 
reporting entity or to the parent company of the reporting entity. The amendments also clarify that a 
reporting entity that obtains management personnel services from another entity (also referred to as 
management entity) is not required to disclose the compensation paid or payable by the management 
entity to its employees or directors. The reporting entity is required to disclose the amounts incurred for 
the key management personnel services provided by a separate management entity.  The amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and are applied retrospectively. 

PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Revaluation Method - Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated 
Amortization
The amendments clarify that, upon revaluation of an intangible asset, the carrying amount of the asset 
shall be adjusted to the revalued amount, and the asset shall be treated in one of the following ways:

a.  The gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the 
     carrying amount of the asset. The accumulated amortization at the date of revaluation is adjusted 
     to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and the carrying amount of the asset 
     after taking into account any accumulated impairment losses.
b.  The accumulated amortization is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset.

The amendments also clarify that the amount of the adjustment of the accumulated amortization 
should form part of the increase or decrease in the carrying amount accounted for in accordance with 
the standard. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014. The 
amendments shall apply to all revaluations recognized in annual periods beginning on or after the date 
of initial application of this amendment and in the immediately preceding annual period.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary amendments 
to PFRSs. Except otherwise indicated, the adoption of these improvements will not have an impact on 
the Group’s financial statements.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards - Meaning of ‘Effective 
PFRSs’
The amendment clarifies that an entity may choose to apply either a current standard or a new 
standard that is not yet mandatory, but that permits early application, provided either standard is 
applied consistently throughout the periods presented in the entity’s first PFRS financial statements.

PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements
The amendment clarifies that PFRS 3 does not apply to the accounting for the formation of a joint 
arrangement in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself. The amendment is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and is applied prospectively. 

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Portfolio Exception
The amendment clarifies that the portfolio exception in PFRS 13 can be applied to financial assets, 
financial liabilities and other contracts. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after July 1, 2014 and is applied prospectively.

PAS 40, Investment Property
The amendment clarifies the interrelationship between PFRS 3 and PAS 40 when classifying 
property as investment property or owner-occupied property. The amendment stated that judgment 
is needed when determining whether the acquisition of investment property is the acquisition of an 
asset or a group of assets or a business combination within the scope of PFRS 3. This judgment is 
based on the guidance of PFRS 3. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after July 1, 2014 and is applied prospectively.

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Group to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur 
which will cause the judgments and assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change. 
The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in the financial statements as they become 
reasonably determinable.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

Judgments
(a) Operating lease commitment - the Group as lessee
     The Group has entered into property leases as a lessee for its office premises. The Group has 
     determined that the lessors retained all the significant risks and rewards of ownership over the 
     properties.  In determining whether or not there is indication of operating lease treatment, the 
     Group considers retention of ownership title to the leased property, period of lease contract 
     relative to the estimated useful economic life of the leased property and the bearer of executory 
     costs, among others.



52

Notes to Financial Statements

(b) HTM financial assets
     The classification to HTM financial assets requires significant judgment.  In making this judgment, 
     the Group evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the Group fails 
     to keep these investments to maturity other than in certain specific circumstances - for example, 
     selling an insignificant amount close to maturity - it will be required to reclassify the entire portfolio 
     as AFS investments. The investments would therefore be measured at fair value and not at
     amortized cost.

(c) Functional currency
     PAS 21 requires management to use its judgment to determine the entity’s functional currency 
     such that it most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events 
     and conditions that are relevant to the entity.  In making this judgment, the Group considers the 
    following:

    a)  the currency that mainly influences sales prices for financial instruments and services (this 
        will often be the currency in which sales prices for its financial instruments and services are 
        denominated and settled); 
    b)  the currency in which funds from financing activities are generated; and
    c)  the currency in which receipts from operating activities are usually retained.

The functional currency of the RBU and FCDU is Philippine peso and United States dollar, respectively, 
while the functional currency of the subsidiaries is Philippine peso.

(d) 

The gain of P=50.15 million and P=15.49 million in 2013 and 2011, respectively, recognized in the parent 
company financial statements is eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

In 2012, the Group sold a more than insignificant amount of HTM financial assets (See Note 7). As 
a consequence, the Group reclassified the remaining HTM financial assets with carrying amount of 
P=2.33 billion, at the date of transfer, to AFS financial assets.

Determining commercial substance in a non-monetary  asset exchange
In 2013 and 2011, the Parent Company transferred certain items of investment properties to 
Intervest Projects, Inc. (IPI), a wholly-owned subsidiary, in exchange for the latter’s equity shares.  
The Parent Company assessed that the exchange has commercial substance and recorded the 
transaction at fair value in the parent company  financial statements, resulting in recognition of 
a gain amounting to P=50.15 million and P=15.49 million in 2013 and 2011, respectively, for the 
difference between the fair value and carrying amount of the transferred investment properties. In 
determining on whether the exchange has commercial substance, the Parent Company considered 
the following:

a)  the configuration (risk, timing and amount) of the cash flows of the asset received differs from 
     the configuration of the cash flows of the asset transferred, or
b)  the entity-specific value of the portion of the entity’s operations affected by the transaction  
     changes as a result of the exchange, and
c)  the difference in (a) or (b) is significant relative to the fair value of the assets exchanged.
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Estimates
(a) Credit losses on loans and receivables

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

(c) Impairment of AFS equity investments

The Group reviews its loan portfolios and receivables (except for the IBCL and accounts receivable 
from a thrift bank as discussed in Note 28) to assess impairment at each reporting date with 
updating provisions made during the intervals as necessary based on the continuing analysis and 
monitoring of individual accounts by credit officers.  In determining whether an impairment loss 
should be recorded in the statement of income, the Group makes judgments as to whether there 
is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that 
portfolio.  This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse 
change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions 
that correlate with defaults on assets in the group.  Management uses estimates in the amount and 
timing of future cash flows when determining the level of allowance required.  Such estimates are 
based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting to future 
changes in the allowance.

In addition to specific allowance against individually significant loans and receivables, the Group 
also makes a collective impairment allowance against exposures which, although not specifically 
identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a greater risk of default than when originally 
granted.  This collective allowance is based on any deterioration in the internal ratings of the loan 
or investment since it was granted or acquired.  These internal ratings take into consideration 
factors such as any deterioration in country risk, industry, and technological obsolescence, as well 
as identified structural weaknesses or deterioration in cash flows.

The carrying values of the Group and Parent Company’s loans and receivables and the related 
allowance for impairment and credit losses are disclosed in Note 8.

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial 
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation 
techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is taken from 
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required 
in establishing fair values. 

The Group treats AFS equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment 
exists. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment. The Group treats 
‘significant’ generally as 20% or more and ‘prolonged’ as greater than 12 months. In addition, the 
Group evaluates other factors, including normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and the 
future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted equities.

In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial 
health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational 
and financing cash flows.

The carrying values of the Group and Parent Company’s AFS equity investments and the related 
allowance for impairment and credit losses are disclosed in Note 7.

Veterans Bank 2013 AR
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The cost of the present value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An 
actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments 
in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality 
rates.  Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit 
obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at 
each reporting date.

In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of government 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, with extrapolated 
maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation. 

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the Philippines and is modified 
accordingly with estimates of mortality improvements. Future salary increases are based on 
expected future inflation rates, seniority, promotion and other market factors.

Further details about the assumptions used are provided in Note 20.

The Parent Company’s net pension liability as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 amounted to                      
P=24.28 million and P=12.96  million, respectively (see Note 20).

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized.  Significant management 
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based 
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

The recognized and unrecognized deferred tax assets of the Group and Parent Company are 
disclosed in Note 22.

The Group assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  The factors that the Group considers 
important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:

•  significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
•  significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall 
    business; and
•  significant negative industry or economic trends.

The Group recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  The Group uses fair value less cost to sell in determining the recoverable 
amount. 

The carrying amounts of the Group and Parent Company’s bank premises, furniture, fixtures and 
equipment and investment properties and the related allowance for impairment and credit losses 
are disclosed in Notes 10 and 11.

(d) Present value of retirement obligation

(e) Recognition of deferred tax assets

(f) Impairment of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment and investment properties
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The Group is currently involved in various legal proceedings.  The estimate of the probable costs for 
the resolution of these claims have been developed in consultation with outside counsel handling 
the Group’s defense in these matters and is based upon an analysis of potential results.  The Group 
currently does not believe that these proceedings will have a material adverse effect on its financial 
position.  It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by 
changes in the estimates or in the effectiveness of the strategies relating to these proceedings (see 
Note 27).

Veterans Bank 2013 AR

(g) Contingencies
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4.  Financial Risk Management 
Introduction
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•  Credit risk
•  Liquidity risk
•  Market risk

Risk Management Framework
Risk is an inherent part of the Parent Company’s business activities. The Parent Company’s risk 
management framework and governance structure are intended to provide comprehensive controls 
and ongoing management of these risks.The risk management process is an ongoing identification, 
measurement, monitoring or control and reporting. It is critical to the Parent Company’s soundness 
and profitability as it is continually exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

Risk identification: The Parent Company’s exposure to risk through its daily business dealings, 
including lending, trading and capital market activities, is identified and  aggregated through the 
Parent Company’s risk management infrastructure.

Risk measurement: The Parent Company measures risk using a variety of methodologies, including 
calculating potential liquidity outflows, Earnings-at-Risk (EAR) and Value-at-Risk (VaR), and by 
performing sensitivity and scenario analyses (“stress testing”) on strategic portfolios in the Parent 
Company’s statement of financial position.

Risk mitigation and control: The Parent Company’s risk management policies and procedures 
incorporate risk mitigation strategies and include approval and tolerance limits by customer, 
product and industry.

Risk monitoring and reporting: Risks are monitored against approval and tolerance limits on a 
regular basis. Compliance with set limits is reported to Senior Management, Risk  Management 
Oversight Committee (RMOC) and BOD on a regular basis.

Risk Governance
The BOD has the ultimate responsibility for understanding the nature and the level of  risks  taken by 
the Parent Company.  The BOD has created various committees such as the Corporate Governance 
Committee (CGCom), RMOC, Audit Committee (AC), and Credit Committee (CreCom)  to assist in 
the performance of its responsibilities for the management of risk. These committees are composed 
of members of the BOD supported by the Compliance Department, Risk Management Department,  
and Audit Department.

The CGCom is responsible for ensuring the Board’s effectiveness and due observance of the 
corporate governance principles and guidelines.  It oversees the periodic performance evaluation 
of the Board and its committees and executive management. The RMOC sets risk limits, policies 
and standards for risk identification, analysis and control especially credit, market, liquidity and 
operational risks.  The RMOC monitors the sensitivity of the Parent Company’s portfolios to changes 
in the market, such as price, banking regulations and the effects on the profitability of the Parent 
Company.  The AC reviews and recommends approval to the BOD for the internal audit programs, 
policies and procedures and oversees proper implementation and adherence to such.  The risk 
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management system of the Parent Company is annually reviewed by the internal auditors to ensure 
its effectiveness and adequacy relative to the Parent Company’s risk taking activities.  The CreCom 
of the BOD reviews, approves or recommends approval to the Executive Committee (ExCom) and/or 
to the BOD credit and credit-related proposals, policies and procedures, loan products and lending 
programs.

At the transactional level, Senior Management has created various management committees to supervise 
the management of the various risks of the business.  The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process (ICAAP) Committee was created to oversee the development and implementation of business 
strategies and plans in line with the Parent Company’s capital plans and risk management processes.  
The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) is responsible for ensuring market and liquidity risks are 
adequately managed both on long term and day-to-day bases.  The President’s CreCom has been 
delegated with credit authority limits and recommends credit proposals and policies to the CreCom 
of the BOD for proposals beyond its credit authority. The Remedial Management Committee monitors 
the status of and developments on non-performing loans of the Parent Company. The Management 
Committee (ManCom) oversees and reviews operational policies and procedures that cover not 
only workflow processes and controls but also products and services approving, implementing, and 
booking guidelines prior to presentation to and approval by the RMOC/Board. All other aspects of 
the business are managed as well by the ManCom to ensure that all activities are in line with the risk 
appetite and tolerance of the Parent Company. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss due to default of a counterparty to perform its financial obligation 
to the Parent Company. The Parent Company has developed policies and practices that are designed 
to preserve the independence and integrity of decision-making and ensure credit risks are assessed 
accurately, approved properly, monitored regularly and managed actively at both the transaction and 
portfolio levels.  The policy framework establishes credit approval authorities, concentration limits, 
risk-rating methodologies, portfolio-review parameters and guidelines for management of distressed 
exposure. Credit risk is managed by the Parent Company by setting and monitoring limits for individual 
borrowers or counterparties, and groups of counterparties as well as periodically assessing the credit 
worthiness of its counterparties.  In addition, the Parent Company obtains collateral where appropriate 
and collateral agreements with counterparties, and limits the duration of exposure.

The BOD sets credit policies and delegates credit authority limits to Management to facilitate the 
approval of credit transactions.  Board oversight function is performed by the Corporate Governance 
and Risk and Compliance Committees.  All credit proposals prior to BOD approval or confirmation 
go through the scrutiny of the President’s CreCom and the CreCom of the BOD.  The Remedial 
Management Committee, a senior management committee, manages and monitors the lending units’ 
performance in the collection of distressed loans.
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For purposes of supporting the assessment of credit risk, the parent company established an Internal 
Credit Risk Rating System (ICRRS). There are three internal credit risk rating systems. The first ICRRS 
covers all corporate borrowers including small and medium enterprises regardless of asset size, 
requiring corporations with assets of P=15.00 million and above to submit financial statements that 
are audited by SEC-accredited auditing firms. The second ICRRS covers financial institiutions. This 
is used for establishment of counterparty credit lines for the Parent Company’s treasury transactions. 
Lastly, the Parent Company also adopted an ICRRS for local government borrowers.

The ICRRS assesses two main aspects of the borrower, namely, the Borrower Risk Rating (BRR) and 
the Loan Exposure Rating (LER).  The BRR provides an assessment of the creditworthiness of the 
borrower, without considering the proposed facility and security arrangements.  The LER presents an 
assessment of the proposed facilities with the corresponding security arrangements if available.

The Parent Company sets industry exposure limits to monitor credit risk concentration per industry 
type. It also establishesthe credit risk tolerance of the Parent Company to the various industry sectors.  
Moreover, a periodic review is conducted on credit concentration on large exposures. Per BSP 
definition, large exposures are those credit exposures with an outstanding balance of 5% or more of 
the total qualifying capital.  A limit is also applied on the maximum aggregate loan the Parent Company 
can expose itself vis-à-vis its total assets. It further sets a limit on the maximum capital it can utilize to 
cover loan exposures.  As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, all industry exposures are within approved 
limits of the Parent Company.  Moreover, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, there were nineteen 
(19) large exposures with a combined total of P=8.41 billion and sixteen (16) large exposures with a 
combined total of P=7.87 billion, respectively. Of these combined totals, P=0.90 billion and P=0.96 billion 
are sovereign guaranteed as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The ICRRS contains the following:

• BRR - The BRR is an assessment of the credit worthiness of the borrower (or guarantor) without 
considering the type or amount of the facility and security arrangements. It is an indicator of the 
probability that a borrower cannot meet its credit obligations in foreseen manner. The assessment 
is described in the following table:
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• LER - The LER is determined for each individual facility considering the term of the facility, security 
arrangement and quality of documentation. This factor can downgrade or upgrade the BRR based 
on the elements relating to cover (collateral including pledged cash deposits and guarantee), quality 
of documentation and structure of transactions.

 The credit risk grading framework consists of 12 grades reflecting varying degrees of risk of default 
and the availability of collateral or other credit risk mitigation.  The following table shows the 
description of ICRRS grade:

Prime
This rating is given to a borrower with a very low probability of going into default in the coming year. 
The borrower has a high degree of stability, substance and diversity.

Very High Grade
This rating is given to borrowers with a low probability of going into default in the coming year. The 
borrower normally has a comfortable degree of stability, substance and diversity. Under normal market 
conditions, borrowers in this category have good access to public markets to raise funds.

High Grade
This rating is given to a borrower with capacity to fulfill financial commitment and is still considered 
strong. Although there maybe some limitations as to accessing public capital markets or access to 
alternative financial markets and is limited to favorable economic and/or market conditions.

High Upper Average
This rating is given to a borrower where clear risk elements exist but the probability of default is 
still somewhat lesser. The probability is reflected in volatility of earnings and overall performance. 
Borrowers in this category normally have a limited access to public financial markets. Borrowers 
should be able to withstand normal business cycles, but any prolonged unfavorable economic period 
would create deterioration beyond acceptable levels.

Veterans Bank 2013 AR
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Upper Average
The risk elements for the Parent Company are sufficiently pronounced, although borrowers should 
still be able to withstand normal business cycles. Any prolonged unfavorable economic and/or market 
period would create an immediate deterioration beyond acceptable levels.

Medium Average
This usually refers to borrowers that are smaller in size or lack of competitive strength. Borrowers are 
more susceptible to adverse business or economic conditions than higher rated accounts. Moreover, 
there still exists a limited margin of safety.

Average
Borrowers have elevated vulnerability to default risk particularly in the event of slight adverse change 
in business or economic conditions. There is also a lesser financial flexibility but still continue to 
service financial commitments.

Low Average
Represents borrowers for which unfavorable industry or company-specific risk factors represent a 
concern. Operating performance and financial strength may be marginal and it is uncertain whether 
the borrower can attract alternative sources of financing. The borrower will find it very hard to cope 
with any significant economic downturn and a default in such a case is more than a possibility. For this 
matter, borrowers under this rating grade shall require close monitoring.

Specially Mentioned
The borrower in this rating shows evidence of weakness in its financial condition or creditworthiness.  
There is a real risk that the entity’s ability to pay the interest and principal on time could be jeopardized.  
The entity’s ability or willingness to service debt is in doubt, likely causing a need to reschedule 
payments.

Substandard
For a ‘substandard’ borrower, the debt burden has become too heavy, only to be made worse by weak or 
negative cash flows and interest coverage.  This makes the collection of principal or interest payments 
questionable, causing an assessment of default at up to 50%.  Unless given closer supervision, the 
institution will likely suffer a future loss.  External factors may be causing an adverse trend, or there 
may be a significant weakness in the entity’s collateral.  Management has an unfavorable record and 
lacks managerial capability.

Doubtful
The extent of probable loss cannot be exactly quantified at this time. Although the possibility of loss 
is significant, there may be certain important and reasonably specific pending factors that can work 
to the advantage and strengthening of assets. Pending factors include merger, acquisition, capital 
injection, and additional collateral.

Loss
This rating is given to a borrower when debt service or the prospect for re-establishment of credit 
worthiness and debt service is remote. This category also applies where the lender will take or has 
taken title to the assets of the borrower and is preparing a foreclosure and/or liquidation of the company. 
A full provision is made on that part of the principal which is not fully and adequately covered. While 
the loan covers basically worthless assets, writing off these loans is neither practical nor desirable for 
the lender.

Notes to Financial Statements
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Maximum exposure to credit risk after collateral held or other credit enhancements
The Parent Company does not hold collateral for cash and other cash items (excluding cash on hand), 
due from BSP, IBLR, financial assets at FVPL, AFS financial assets, HTM financial assets, unquoted 
debt securities, accounts receivables and accrued interest receivables; thus carrying values represent 
maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting dates.

An analysis of the maximum exposure to credit risk after taking into account any collateral held or 
other credit enhancements for those financial assets whose carrying amounts do not already reflect 
the said maximum exposure, is shown below (amounts in thousands):

Veterans Bank 2013 AR
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The Parent Company holds collateral against loans and receivables in the form of real estate and 
chattel mortgages, guarantees, and other registered securities over assets.  Estimates of fair value are 
based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing and these are updated every two 
years.  Generally, collateral is not held over loans and advances to banks except for reverse repurchase 
agreements. The Parent Company is not allowed to sell or pledge collateral held for reverse repurchase 
agreements.  Collateral usually is not held against investment securities, and no such collateral was 
held as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

It is the Parent Company’s policy to dispose foreclosed properties acquired in an orderly fashion.  The 
proceeds of the sale of the foreclosed assets classified as “Investment Properties” are used to reduce 
or repay the outstanding claim.

In 2013 and 2012, the Parent Company took possession of collaterals held as security for loans 
and discounts with carrying amount of P=480.08 million and P=629.43 million, respectively. The related 
foreclosed collaterals have aggregate fair value of P=523.92 million and P=847.17 million, respectively.

Excessive Risk Concentration
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or 
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their 
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other 
conditions.  The Parent Company’s credit and other product portfolios may also cause concentrations.  
Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Parent Company’s performance to developments 
affecting a particular industry or geographical location.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Parent Company’s policies and procedures 
include specific guidelines focusing on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of 
credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly.

Notes to Financial Statements
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Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure
An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the reporting date is shown below (amounts in thousands):
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Neither Past Due nor Impaired Loans and receivables and Investment securities
Table below shows credit quality per class of financial assets based on the Parent 
Company’s rating system (amounts in thousands):
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Past due but not impaired Loans and receivables 
These are loans and receivables where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but the 
Group believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of collateral available and 
or status of collection of amounts owed to the Group.

Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans and receivables of the Group and Parent Company 
is shown below (amounts in thousands):

Notes to Financial Statements
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Impaired Loans and receivables
Impaired loans and receivables are loans and receivables for which the Group determines that it is 
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due based on the contractual terms 
of the promissory note and securities agreements.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, breakdown of restructured loans for the Group and Parent 
Company is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Liquidity Risk
The objective of liquidity risk management is to ensure that all maturing obligations and commitments 
of the Parent Company will be paid fully and promptly.  Liquidity risk is therefore the risk that the 
Parent Company will be unable to meet financial commitment to a customer or market in any location, 
in any currency, at any time.  Remaining liquid then is a precondition for achieving all other business 
objectives and ranks as one of the core objectives of the Parent Company.

The ALCO oversees the liquidity risk management of the Parent Company.  The Treasury Group executes 
the funding and liquidity plan after the business strategies of each business unit are approved and 
consolidated.  The Treasury Group shall likewise ensure that liquidity is maintained in the statement of 
financial position and that the Parent Company shall have the ability to access incremental funding.

The liquidity planning process includes the preparation of the liquidity gap reports, the diversification 
of sources of funds and the Liquidity Contingency Planning.  The liquidity gap report or MCO report 
shows the mismatch in maturities of sources and uses in the financial position.  Assets and liabilities 
are plotted based on maturity and/or behavioral profile in different tenor buckets.  Cumulative gaps 
are computed through the different tenor buckets.  An MCO limit is placed based on the projected 
statement of financial position growth and the Parent Company’s funding capacity.

Financial assets
Analysis of equity and debt securities at fair value into maturity groupings is based on the expected 
date on which these assets will be realized.  For other assets, the analysis into maturity grouping is 
based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date or 
if earlier the expected date the assets will be realized.

Financial liabilities
The maturity grouping is based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the 
contractual maturity date.  When counterparty has a choice of when the amount is paid, the liability is 
allocated to the earliest period in which the Group can be required to pay.
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The table below summarizes the maturity profile of financial instruments based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows (amounts in thousands):

Notes to Financial Statements
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Historically, not all deposit liabilities are withdrawn on their contractual maturities. Based on the 
historically observed behavior of the Parent Company’s deposit liabilities, a significant amount of 
deposits is retained longer than its contractual maturity. This therefore allows the Parent Company to 
go into long term investment and lending activities which streams of cash flows are sufficient enough 
to cover cash outflow requirements.

Veterans Bank 2013 AR
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Below is the adjusted liquidity gap position of the Parent Company based on a mixture of observed 
behavior and contractual maturity which is supported by the asset side of the statement of financial 
position:

Notes to Financial Statements
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As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, of the total assets under the regular books around 30.19% or 
P=16.78 billion and 30.16% or P=19.20 billion, respectively, are in cash assets and other cash items such 
as due from BSP, cash-in-vault, due from local banks and short term lending to BSP.  Moreover, as of 
December 31, 2013, the Parent Company had a significant inventory of cash convertible government 
securities booked under AFS financial assets, which constituted 28.67% or P=15.80 billion of total 
assets. This is gleaned from the fact that the Parent Company is an authorized government depository 
bank that is required to maintain legal and liquidity floor reserves equivalent to 50% of total government 
deposits. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, total government deposits amounted to P=29.72 billion 
or 63% and P=29.28 billion or 69%, respectively, of the total peso deposits.

For the FCDU books, deposits with other banks, loans and investments were largely short term. 
Investments were likewise limited to Philippine government guaranteed bonds that can easily be 
liquidated if the need arises.

Under normal condition, the Parent Company periodically tests its ability to draw on the identified 
sources to back-up liquidity requirement.  In addition, stress tests are conducted on periodic basis in 
order to assess the Parent Company’s ability to meet its liquidity obligations during a liquidity crisis.  
Stress testing may be in the form of simple sensitivity or scenario analysis. It is an important tool used 
to measure the outcome of certain extreme events to the Parent Company’s liquidity position.  More 
importantly, stress testing results help plan for a liquidity crisis. To counter a severe liquidity problem, 
the Parent Company put in place a liquidity contingency plan.  Depending on the severity of the 
liquidity problem, the Parent Company may choose or use one or more of liquidity funding sources.

Diversification of funding sources is important in managing liquidity risk, specifically funding liquidity 
needs.  Diversification of funds sources means that the Parent Company takes liquidity from as many 
different types of customers in as many different sources as possible. It also means having many 
types of instruments from which funds can be drawn.  By offering different instruments, there is a 
better chance of getting more funds from the same customer. Even though achieving liquidity through 
instrument diversification has a cost, the Parent Company nevertheless avoids the danger of using 
only one type of instrument to draw money from the same source.
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Any sudden swing in interest rates may entice customers/investors to shift funds to higher yielding 
instruments.  For this reason, the Parent Company offers several deposit instruments whose yields 
are market competitive. However, in order that there is no over dependence on high yielding deposit 
funds, tolerance limits are set.  For interbank borrowings, maximum interbank borrowing per day is set 
at P=1.50 billion and USD 6 million for the regular and FCDU books, respectively. Large funds provider 
limits are set at P=1. 50 billion and USD2 million for the peso and dollar term deposits, respectively. Any 
excess to the large funds provider limit is invested at very short term and highly liquid assets.

Market Risk
Market risk is the potential decline in earnings, either immediately or over time, as a result of 
adverse fluctuations or changes in the level or volatility of interest rates, foreign exchange rates or 
commodities or equity prices. The Risk Management Department is responsible for identification, 
measurement, reporting and mitigation of market risk under the supervision of the BOD through the 
RMOC. Measurement of market risk is done using the Value-at-Risk (VaR) and Earnings-at-Risk (EaR) 
methodologies.

VaR is a statistical estimate of the maximum amount of loss that an “open” risk position may bring 
about during a given time period with a given level of confidence. VaR calculation covers the accounts 
booked under Held-for-Trading Securities and the Parent Company’s overall Foreign Exchange 
exposure.  EaR, on the other hand, is used to measure the impact of volatility of the interest rates to 
the earning assets and liabilities of the Parent Company

Objectives and limitations of the VaR methodology
In calculating the VaR, the Parent Company used the parametric methodology with 99% confidence 
interval and one (1) day holding period. This means that actual trading losses are expected to exceed 
VaR estimates of not more than once out of every one hundred trading days. The VaR model assumes 
that the market conditions follow a normal distribution. The use of VaR has limitations because it 
is based on historical correlations and volatilities in market prices and assumes that future price 
movements will follow a statistical distribution. Due to the fact that VaR relies heavily on historical 
data to provide information and may not clearly predict the future changes and modifications of the 
risk factors, the probability of large market moves may be underestimated if changes in risk factors 
fail to align with the normal distribution assumption. VaR may also be under or over estimated due 
to the assumptions placed on risk factors and the relationship between such factors for specific 
instruments. Even though positions may change throughout the day, the VaR only represents the risk 
of the portfolios at the close of each business day, and it does not account for any losses that may 
occur beyond the 99% confidence level.

The Risk Management Department calculates VaR on a daily basis and sends a report to the Treasury 
Group.

Notes to Financial Statements



79

The table below shows the VaR for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (amounts in 
thousands):

For Foreign Exchange Exposure

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Parent Company’s Fixed Income trading books 
to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all variables held constant for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 (amounts in thousands):

No sensitivity analysis was performed for the Fixed Income FCDU Books as there were no outstanding 
fixed income transactions as of year-end 2011.

Backtesting is periodically done to verify the predictive power of the VaR model employed.  
Backtesting is the basic analytical tool, where previous-day VaR calculations are compared against 
actual day-to-day profit and loss.

The Parent Company adopted the Standardized Approach set by the BSP in calculating capital 
adequacy covering market risk.  The standardized approach employs standard risk weights for both 
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the general and specific market risks.  The general market risk classifies market risk according to the 
instruments coupon rate and the tenor while specific market risk classifies market risk based on the 
nature or type of security/instrument.

Moreover, as a control measure for losses in the trading activities that may arise, market risk limits 
are put in place such as volume or position limits and stop loss limits.  Nominal Position Limits is the 
maximum amount of open risk positions that can be held within a set time period for each financial 
instrument that the Parent Company can trade. It is a pre-determined position level set by the 
Management and approved by the BOD for a specific instrument.  Position limits are set for fixed 
income instruments booked under held-for-trading and for foreign exchange positions of the Parent 
Company.

An Annual VaR limit is also set to manage trading losses. The annual VaR limit is usually set as a 
percentage of the budgeted trading income for the year.  The Annual VaR limit is the maximum monetary 
amount for market-related losses for a specified time period that top management deems acceptable.  
It is intended to limit the actual financial loss (realized and unrealized) from adverse trading activities.  
Before the annual VaR limit is reached, a loss alert limit and a stop loss limit are set as a red flag and 
a cut-loss limit, respectively for significant large losses in trading.

Interest Rate Risk
The method by which the Parent Company measures the sensitivity of its assets and liabilities to 
interest rate fluctuation is by way of Earnings-at-Risk (EaR) measurement.  EaR measures the Parent 
Company’s susceptibility to changes in interest rates.  It calculates the change in income over the next 
12 months, given current exposures that will result from a management selected and approved change 
in interest rate. The Parent Company computes for the EaR for Peso and FCDU books separately.

To compute for the EaR, a repricing gap must first be created. The repricing gap is calculated by 
distributing the assets and liabilities into tenor buckets according to their repricing dates or maturity 
dates or assumed behavior of payouts or liquidation. A gap is considered positive when the amount 
of interest rate sensitive assets exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities. On the other 
hand, a gap is considered negative when the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities exceeds the 
amount of interest rate sensitive assets.

After establishing the repricing gap, the resultant gaps on each tenor bucket shall be multiplied by the 
assumed rate volatility based on the approved standard deviation (SD) of 2.326. The use of 2.326 SD 
means that there is a 99% probability that actual impact on the earnings of the Parent Company within 
the projected 12-month period will unlikely exceed the EaR estimates under normal conditions.

Notes to Financial Statements
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Below is the repricing gap of interest sensitive assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

In an increasing interest rate scenario a negative repricing gap position would normally yield to a 
decrease in earnings due to heightened interest expense. The first and second moths are projected 
to be in a substantial negative repricing gap as more liabilities are estimated to reprice than assets. 
Thus, an increase in interest rates may result to an earnings-at-risk of P=21.93 million at the end of 
the second month. However, for the remainder of the period, the repricing gap is expected to be in a 
positive position. Hence, a sustained increase in interest rates may yet reduce the earnings-at-risk to 
P=16.48 million at the end of the first year. On the other hand, if interest rates will decrease at the same 
confidence interval, the Parent Company may save on expenses by P=16.48 million within the same 
period.
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The FCDU Book is projected to be in a negative repricing gap until the end of first year except first, third 
and sixth months. Hence, an increasing interest rate scenario at 2.326SD may reduce the earnings by 
$7.01 at the end of the 12-month period.  On the other hand, an increase in interest rates at 2.326SD 
may save cost of liabilities by $7.01 at the end of the 12-month period.

In an increasing interest rate scenario a negative repricing gap position would normally yield to a 
decrease in earnings due to heightened interest expense. The second and fourth weeks of the first 
month are projected to be in a substantial negative gap as there are more liabilities (comprised mainly 
of deposits) that are projected to reprice than those of assets. An increase in interest rate at 2.326SD 
may result in a possible reduction of income by P=4.00 million at the end of the first month of 2013. 
However, a positive repricing gap position is expected from the second month and to remain in a 
positive gap position until the end of the 12-month period. Thus, a sustained increase of interest rates 
may help reduce the earnings at risk to P=1.35 million at the end of the 12-month period in 2013 at 99% 
confidence level.  On the other hand, if interest rates will decrease at the same confidence interval, the 
Parent Company may save on expenses by P=1.35 million within the same period.
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The FCDU book is expected to be in a substantial positive gap position in the second and fifth month 
as there are more assets that are expected to reprice than liabilities. For this matter, a decline in 
interest rates at 2.326SD may yield a decrease in earnings by USD90 in the fifth month. However, 
the FCDU book is expected to be on a negative repricing gap on the sixth month until the end of the 
12-month period. Hence, a sustained decrease in interest rates may eventually reduce the earnings 
at risk to USD 80 at the end of the first year at 99% confidence level. On the other hand, an uptick in 
interest rates at 2.326SD may lower cost of liabilities thus augmenting the earnings by USD 80 on the 
12-month period.

In a decreasing interest rate scenario, a positive repricing gap position would normally yield a 
decrease in earnings due to lowering of interest margin. In the first month a decrease in interest rates 
may result to a possible reduction of income by P= 6.84 million if interest rates decrease at 2.326SD. 
In the subsequent months, a sustained decrease of interest rates may result to a potential loss of              
P=15.36 million at the end of the 12-month period at 99% confidence level. However, if interest rates 
will increase at the same confidence interval, the Parent Company stands to earn additional income of 
P=15.36 million at the same period.
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The FCDU book is on a negative repricing gap position in the initial month as there are more liabilities 
that will reprice in this period than assets. Most of the subsequent months until the end of the 12 
month period except for the tenth month are on negative gaps as more deposit liabilities will mature 
or reprice. For this matter, an increase in interest rates at 2.326SD may yield a decrease in earnings by 
USD80 in the first month. A sustained increase in interest rates may increase reduction in earnings by 
as much as USD200 at the end of the 12 month period.

The sensitivity of the statement of income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the 
net interest income for one year based its effect on the floating rate of financial assets and financial 
liabilities held at December 31, 2013 and 2012. The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed 
rate available for sale debt instruments held at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

The following tables demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, 
with all other variables held constant, of the Parent Company’s statement of income (amounts in 
thousands).
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The impact on the Parent Company’s equity already excludes the impact on transactions 
affecting the statements of income.

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign exchange is the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
Group takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates 
on its financial and cash flows.

The Parent Company measures its foreign risk exposures using the VaR methodology.

The Parent Company’s policy is to maintain foreign currency exposure within acceptable limits and 
within existing regulatory guidelines.  In 2013 and 2012, the Parent Company’s profile of foreign 
currency exposure on its assets and liabilities is within limits for financial institutions engaged in the 
type of businesses in which the Parent Company is engaged.

Some of the Parent Company’s transactions exposed to foreign currency fluctuations include 
investments in bonds and due from other banks.  The FX position emanates from both the RBU and 
FCDU books.  BSP requires banks to match the foreign currency assets with the foreign currency 
liabilities.  Banks are required to maintain at all times a 100% cover for their currency liabilities held 
through FCDU.  In addition, the BSP requires a 30.00% liquidity reserve on all foreign currency liabilities 
held through FCDU.

Total foreign exchange currency position is monitored through the daily BSP FX position reports, which 
are subject to the overbought and oversold limits set by the BSP at 20.00% of unimpaired capital or 
USD50 million, whichever is lower.  The maximum aggregate day-light limit for third currencies (Euro, 
GBP, Yen) is USD2 million while the aggregate maximum overnight limit for third currencies is $1 
million.

Regulatory Qualifying Capital
The regulatory capital, as defined under the BSP Circular No. 538, consists of Tier 1 capital and Tier 
2 capital.  The Parent Company’s Tier 1 capital is comprised of common shares, non - cumulative 
preferred shares, retained earnings and undivided profits less the deductibles such as deferred 
income tax and equity investments.  The Tier 2 capital is composed of general loan loss provision and 
unrealized gains on AFS equity securities purchased less the prescribed deductibles.

Under existing BSP regulations, the determination of the Parent Company’s compliance with 
regulatory requirements and ratios is based on the amount of the Parent Company’s “unimpaired 
capital” (regulatory net worth) as reported to the BSP, which is determined on the basis of regulatory 
accounting policies which differ from PFRS in some respects.

Qualifying capital and risk-weighted assets are computed based on BSP regulations. Risk-weighted 
assets consist of total assets less cash on hand, due from BSP, loans covered by hold-out on or 
assignment of deposits, loans or acceptances under letters of credit to the extent covered by margin 
deposits and other non-risk items determined by the MB of the BSP.

Moreover, the Parent Company’s exposures to an affiliate are deducted from the Qualifying Capital as 
per BSP Circular No. 560 Section 5 for purposes of calculating the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR). This 
has been effected in the CAR report as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 which was submitted to BSP.
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The capital-to-risk assets ratio of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 presented 
below, considers the deferral and amortization of required allowance on IBCL and accounts receivable 
as discussed in Note 28, as approved by the BSP, and excludes the Appropriated surplus i.e. deducted 
from regulatory capital, as discussed in Note 19 (amounts in millions):

On April 10, 2013, the BOD approved the exclusion of Appropriated surplus in the calculation of the 
Parent Company’s ‘unimpaired capital’ for the Parent Company’s subsequent reporting to the BSP.

An updated ICAAP Document for the year 2014 reflecting 2013 performance and future plans was 
already submitted to BSP on March 13, 2014. Certain enhancements are presented in the Document. 
Highlights of which are as follows:

Governance and Management Structures and Composition
In July 2013, the Bank has appointed a new Chairman as well as five (5) new directors. In September of 
the same year, a seasoned banker was named PVB President and Chief Executive Officer. Corollary to 
the changes in the membership of the Board was the re-organization of the several Board Committees. 
Moreover, under the leadership of the new President/Chief Executive Officer, the Management 
Committee (ManCom) has been expanded to include the oversight executives.

Credit Process and Policy Enhancement
The new Board has approved a number of credit policies and procedures to strengthen the credit 
underwriting process to preclude any unsafe and unsound banking practice in the future.

Risk Measurement and Capital Adequacy
The Bank performed risk measurements under Pillar I, Pillar II as well as three (3) stress tests per type 
of risks to determine its capital adequacy under the normal and stressed situations.
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The following table provides the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s 
assets and liabilities measured at fair value and those for which fair values are required to be 
disclosed. Financial instruments which fair values are required to be disclosed, but the carrying 
values equal their fair values are not shown.
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30,044,321 34,035,073

Consolidated

10,473,009



89

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Valuation 
techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market 
observable prices exist and other revaluation models.

In 2013 and 2012, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value instruments, and no 
transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair value of the financial instruments 
are:

Cash and other cash items, due from BSP, due from other banks, IBLR and SPURA and accrued 
interest receivable - Carrying amounts approximate fair values given the short-term nature of the 
instruments.

Financial assets at FVPL and AFS investments 
Debt securities - Fair values are generally based on quoted market prices.  When the market prices 
are not readily available, the Group uses adjusted quoted market prices of comparable investments or 
applied discounted cash flow methodologies.  The prevailing interest rates used range from 2.125% to 
9.125%, and from 4.75% to 9.125%  for peso denominated securities in 2013 and 2012, respectively, 
while the prevailing interest rates used range from 5.00% to 6.38%, and from 5.00% to 6.00% for 
dollar denominated securities, in 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Equity securities - The Group’s investments in equity securities include quoted and unquoted shares of 
stocks.  Fair values of quoted equity securities are based on quoted market prices.  Unquoted equity 
securities are carried at cost, less any accumulated impairment in value due to the unpredictable 
nature of future cash flows and the lack of suitable methods of arriving at a reliable fair value.

Loans and discounts - Fair values of loans and discounts, including unquoted debt securities classified 
as loans, are estimated using the discounted cash flow methodology, using the Parent Company’s 
current incremental lending rates for similar types of loans and receivables.  For loans with floating 
interest rates, with repricing frequencies on a quarterly basis, the Group assumes that the carrying 
amount approximates fair value.  The discount rates used in estimating the fair value of loans and 
receivables range from 0.25% to 5.65% in 2013 and, from 0.75% to 5.96% in 2012.

Accounts receivable and sales contracts receivable - Quoted market prices are not readily available 
for these financial assets.  They are not reported at fair value and are not significant in relation to the 
Group’s total financial assets.

Investment properties - Fair value of the investment properties, measured at Level 3, has been 
determined based on valuations made by external and/or in-house appraisers on the basis of recent 
sales transactions of similar properties in the same areas as the properties and taking into account 
the economic conditions prevailing at the time the valuations were made.  Market data approach is 
used.  It involves correlation and analysis of comparable lots, either recently sold or offered for sale in 
the market, upon which the market value of subject property is estimated. The inputs considered by 
the appraisers in the valuation include price per square meter, size and shape of property, location and 
time element of the appraisal.

Deposit liabilities - Fair values of demand deposit liabilities and savings deposit liabilities approximate 
their carrying amounts due to the demand nature.  The fair values of time deposit liabilities approximate 
their carrying amounts due to periodic interest repricing.

Bills payable - Fair value is computed using the discounted cash flow methodology except for the 
fair value of short-term liabilities which approximates carrying value.  The discount rates used in 
estimating the fair value of bills payable range from 9.00% to 11.50% in 2013 and, from 4.49% to 
11.50% in 2012.

Marginal deposit and cash letter of credit, manager’s check, accrued interest payable and other 
liabilities - Carrying amounts approximate fair values given the short-term nature of the instruments.
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For the Group and the Parent Company, this account consists of (amounts in thousands):

As of December 31, 2012, government securities with face value amounting to P=7.00 billion and 
fair value amounting to P=7.27 billion were pledged in favor of the Parent Company as collateral for 
SPURA.

Financial Assets at FVPL
Financial assets at FVPL are investment securities held for trading by the Group and Parent 
Company.  As of December 31, 2012, this account consists of treasury bills amounting to                                  
P=119.34 million. The treasury bills bear no nominal annual interest rate. The net unrealized gains on 
financial assets at FVPL as of December 31, 2012 amounted to P=0.69 million.

As of December 31, 2013, the Group does not have financial assets at FVPL.

AFS Financial Assets
AFS financial assets of the Group and the Parent Company consist of (amounts in thousands):
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Unquoted equity securities are composed of various bank association membership shares that are 
not actively traded in the market.  The Group does not intend to sell these securities in the near future.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, AFS financial assets of the Group and of the Parent Company 
include net accumulated unrealized gains of P=192.39 million and P=767.86 million, respectively.

Movements in net unrealized gains on AFS investments follow (amounts in thousands):

The peso-denominated government bonds included in AFS financial assets bear nominal annual 
interest rates ranging from 2.13% to 9.13% as of December 31, 2013 and from 4.75% to 9.13% 
as of December 31, 2012, while US dollar-denominated government bonds bear nominal annual 
interest ranging from 5.00% to 6.38% as of December 31, 2013 and from 5.00% to 6.00% as of                  
December 31, 2012 for both the Group and the Parent Company.

HTM Financial Assets
In October 2012, the Parent Company sold HTM financial assets with carrying amount of P=2.01 billion, 
representing 46% of the total HTM financial assets. The gain on sale of the HTM financial assets 
amounting to P=202.07 million is included in ‘Trading gains - net’ in the 2012 statement of income.

The sale represents more than an insignificant amount of HTM financial assets, resulting in the tainting 
of the entire category and reclassification to AFS financial assets.  The Group is prohibited to classify 
any financial assets as HTM for the next two years. The difference of P=268.83 million between the 
carrying amount of HTM financial assets amounting to P=2.33 billion and its fair value at the date of 
reclassification amounting to P=2.59 billion is recognized as other comprehensive income.

As of December 31, 2012, the reclassified financial assets from HTM to AFS is carried at fair value 
amounting to P=2.94 billion with net unrealized gain amounting to P=620.37 million in other comprehensive 
income.
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Interest income on trading and investment securities of the Group and Parent Company consists 
of (amounts in thousands):

Trading gains on trading and investment securities consist of (amounts in thousands):

This account consists of (amounts in thousands):

Unquoted debt securities issued or guaranteed by the Philippine government amounted to                
P=1.53 billion and P=1.50 billion as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. These include 
Burley Tobacco - Incremental Internal Revenue notes, various local government units, bonds issued 
by National Development Company, National Food Authority.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, accounts receivable account includes a receivable from third 
party amounting to P=157.50 million (gross of allowance for impairment and credit losses amounting 
to P=21.53 million) pertaining to final tax withheld on PEACe Bonds which matured on October 18, 
2011 (see Note 27).

Further, accounts receivable also includes receivable amounting to P=907.26 million, representing 
the uninsured deposits of a thrift bank assumed by the Parent Company, as of December 31, 2013 
and 2012 (see Note 28).

Veterans Bank 2013 AR

8.  Loans and Receivables



94

Interest income on loans and receivables consists of (amounts in thousands):

BSP Reporting
BSP Circular No. 351 allows banks to exclude from nonperforming classification receivables classified 
as ‘Loss’ in the latest examination of the BSP which are fully covered by allowance for credit losses, 
provided that interest on said receivables shall not be accrued and that such receivables shall be 
deducted from the total receivable portfolio for purposes of computing NPLs. Subsequently, the BSP 
issued BSP Circular No. 772, which requires banks to compute their net NPLs by deducting the specific 
allowance for credit losses on the total loan portfolio from the gross NPLs. The specific allowance for 
credit losses shall not be deducted from the total loan portfolio in computing the NPL ratio.

Nonperforming loans (NPLs) of the Group and the Parent Company, as reported to the BSP, follow 
(amounts in thousands):

Secured and unsecured NPLs of the Group and the Parent Company follow (amounts in
thousands):

Generally, NPLs refer to loans whose principal and/or interest is unpaid for thirty (30) days or more after 
due date or after they have become past due in accordance with existing BSP rules and regulations.  
This shall apply to loans payable in lump sum and loans payable in quarterly, semi-annual, or annual 
installments, in which case, the total outstanding balance thereof shall be considered nonperforming.

In the case of receivables that are payable in monthly installments, the total outstanding balance 
thereof shall be considered nonperforming when three (3) or more installments are in arrears.

In the case of receivables that are payable in daily, weekly, or semi-monthly installments, the total 
outstanding balance thereof shall be considered nonperforming at the same time that they become 
past due in accordance with existing BSP regulations, i.e., the entire outstanding balance of the 
receivable shall be considered as past due when the total amount of arrearages reaches ten percent 
(10.00%) of the total receivable balance.
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Receivables are classified as nonperforming in accordance with BSP regulations, or when, in the 
opinion of management, collection of interest or principal is doubtful. Receivables are not reclassified 
as performing until interest and principal payments are brought current or the loans are restructured in 
accordance with existing BSP regulations, and future payments appear assured.

All items in litigation shall be considered nonperforming.

Restructured receivables which do not meet the requirements to be treated as performing receivables 
shall also be considered as NPLs

Current banking regulations allow banks with no unbooked valuation reserves and capital adjustments 
required by BSP to exclude from nonperforming classification those loans classified as ‘Loss’ in the 
latest examination of the BSP, which are fully covered by allowance for credit losses, provided that 
interest on said loans shall not be accrued.

The following tables show information relating to loans and discounts by security of the Group and 
Parent Company (amounts in thousands):

Unsecured loans and receivables pertain mostly to salary loans granted to teachers and non-teaching 
employees of the Department of Education (DepEd), employees of local government units and 
veterans of World War II. These loans are covered by agreements, which allow collection of monthly 
amortizations through salary or pension deductions.

Information on the concentration of loans and discounts as to industry of the Group and Parent 
Company follows (amounts in thousands):
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The BSP considers that concentration of credit exists when the total loan exposure to a particular 
industry or economic sector exceeds 30% of total loan portfolio.

Investments in subsidiaries
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Parent Company’s investments in subsidiaries consist of 
(amounts in thousands):

On August 14, 2012, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved the additional capital 
contribution to IPI through transfer of certain properties, land and condominium unit, in exchange 
of 526,320 common shares of IPI. The transfer of land and condominium unit was completed on 
December 27, 2013. The Parent Company recognized additional investment in IPI equivalent to 
the fair value of the land and condominium unit transferred amounting to P=52.63 million and  a 
gain amounting to P=50.15 million, included under ‘Gain on sale of assets’ in the Parent Company’s 
statement of income, for the difference of the fair value and the carrying amount of the land and 
condominium unit at the date of transfer (see Note 30).

Investment in an associate
As of December 31, 2012, the Parent Company has equity ownership of 49% in PVB Card 
Corporation (PVBCC), a company incorporated on February 9, 2009 to engage primarily in the 
sale and/or patronage of goods, merchandise and services of producers and traders who accept 
the convenience cards, including but not limited to credit, debit and prepaid cards, issued by the 
company to qualified clientele.  

The Parent Company’s investment in PVBCC is carried at cost less accumulated impairment. 
In 2012, the Parent Company recognized provision for impairment losses on its investment in 
PVBCC amounting P=10.36 million. As of December 31, 2012, the Parent Company’s investment in 
PVBCC in the parent company statement of financial position amounted to P=7.78 million (net of the          
P=16.72 million allowance for impairment losses).

In the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s investment in PVBCC is accounted for under 
the equity method of accounting.  The carrying amount of the Group’s investment in PVBCC as 
of December 31, 2012 is nil due to the recognition of share in net losses of PVBCC. The Group’s 
unrecognized share of losses of PVBCC as of December 31, 2012 amounted to P= 9.87 million.

9.  Investments in Subsidiaries and Associate
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As of and for the year ended December 31, 2012, the summarized financial information of PVBCC 
follows (amounts in thousands):

On November 29, 2013, the Parent Company sold its 49% ownership PVBCC for
P=35.53 million. The gain on sale recognized by the Group and the Parent Company from the 
disposal of PVBCC amounted to P=35.53 million and P=27.75 million, respectively, is included 
under ‘Gain on sale of assets’ in the statement of income.

The composition of and movements of this account for the Group and the Parent Company are as 
follows (amounts in thousands):
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In 2013, the Parent Company transferred items of PPE consisting of land and condominium unit to 
IPI in exchange of additional shares (see Note 9). The condominium unit is used by IPI as its principal 
office and is continued to be classified as PPE in the consolidated financial statements. The land has 
been reclassified from PPE to investment property in the consolidated financial statements due to a 
change in intention for its use upon transfer to IPI.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Group and the Parent Company has fully depreciated property 
and equipment that are still in use with original cost amounting to P= 313.17 million and P= 244.7 million, 
respectively.
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The composition of and movements in the investment properties follow (amounts in
thousands):

Veterans Bank 2013 AR

11.  Investment Properties

(forward)



100

The Group’s investment properties consist of real estate properties acquired in settlement of loans and 
receivables.

The aggregate fair value of the investment properties amounted to P=6.65 billion and P=7.60 billion as 
of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The fair values of the Group and Parent Company’s investment properties have been determined on 
the basis of recent sales of similar properties in the same areas as the investment properties, while 
taking into account the economic conditions prevailing at the time the valuations were made.

Details of rental income and direct operating expense (excluding depreciation), included in ‘Other 
operating income’ and ‘Miscellaneous expense’, respectively, in the statement of income on the 
investment properties follow (amounts in thousands):
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This account consists of (amounts in thousands):

Changes in ‘Software costs’ of the Group and of the Parent Company are as follows (amounts in 
thousands):

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, software costs include software that are still in progress and 
not yet available for use amounting to P=218.21 million and P=182.05 million, respectively.

Miscellaneous assets consist of receivable from local government unit and refundable deposits 
from lessors.

Changes in the allowance for impairment and credit losses of the Parent Company are
summarized as follows (amounts in thousands):

       (forward)
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The provision for impairment and credit losses in 2011 includes provision amounting to                                      
P=116.11 million charged directly to 2011 surplus. PFRS requires that such provision be charged 
against 2011 operations.

In 2012, the provision for impairment and credit losses of the Parent Company included the provision 
for impairment on investment in PVBCC, an associate, amounting to P=16.72 million. Upon disposal of 
the investment in PVBCC in 2013, the P=16.20 million allowance for impairment and credit losses was 
reversed and included in the calculation of the gain on disposal of the associate (see Note 9).

The amortization of the required allowance on IBCL and accounts receivable from a thrift bank 
amounted to P=103.07 million for each of the year 2013, 2012, and 2011 (see Note 28).

With the foregoing level of allowance for impairment and credit losses, management believes that the 
Parent Company has sufficient allowance to cover for significant losses that may be incurred from the 
noncollection or nonrealization of its loans and receivables and other risk assets,  except for the IBCL 
and Accounts receivable from a thrift bank on which the required allowance for impairment and credit 
losses deferred and is being amortized as approved by the BSP as discussed in Note 28
 
A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses by class of loans and receivables of the Parent 
Company is as follows (amounts in thousands):
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The following table shows the breakdown of provision for impairment and credit losses (amounts 
in thousands):

The allowance as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the provision for impairment and credit 
losses for 2013 and 2012 include the amounts related to receivables from a thrift bank (see         
Note 28).

Out of the total deposit liabilities of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
43.89% and 45.22%, respectively is subject to periodic interest repricing. The remaining peso 
deposit liabilities earn annual fixed interest rates of 0.25% in 2013 and 0.375% in 2012, while 
foreign currency-denominated deposit liabilities earn annual interest rates of 0.125% in 2013 and 
0.25% in 2012.

On March 29, 2012, BSP issued Circular No. 753 which indicated the unification of the statutory 
and liquidity reserve requirement for banks. Also, the same circular mandated that Cash and other 
cash items are no longer eligible as compliance with the reserve requirement.

Under existing BSP regulations, non-FCDU deposit liabilities of the Parent Company are subject 
to combined liquidity and statutory reserve of 18% starting in 2012 and liquidity reserve and 
statutory reserve of 11% and 10%, respectively in 2011. Required liquidity floor (additional for 
government deposits only) for 2013 and 2012 is 32%.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Parent Company is in compliance with such regulations.
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The total liquidity and statutory reserves of the Parent Company based on the submitted report to 
the BSP as of December 2013 and 2012 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

This account consists of borrowings from BSP and non-bank financial intermediaries with 
principal amounts totaling P=190.63 million and P=2.53 billion as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively, with interest rates ranging from 4.49% to 9.0% in 2013 and 2012.

On February 7, 2008, the MB approved a 90-day special liquidity support to the Parent Company 
amounting to P=2.30 billion, bearing annual interest rate of 9.00%. Subsequently, on May 29, 2008, 
such support was restructured with lower interest rate equivalent to 4.49% and extended term of 
20 years. The bills payable was initially recorded at fair value of P=1.18 billion and subsequently 
carried at amortized cost. The resulting difference between the initial fair value of the loan and 
the proceeds of the loan amounting to P=1.12 billion (i.e. day 1 difference) was recorded initially 
as ‘Unearned income’ in the statement of financial position (see Note 28). Such unearned income 
is amortized over the term of the loan using effective interest method and is presented under 
‘Interest income - others’ in the statement of income.  In 2013, 2012 and 2011, amortization of 
unearned income amounted to P=4.40 million, P=25.75 million and P=21.63 million, respectively.  

On March 1, 2013, the Parent Company paid this borrowing from the BSP amounting to                        
P=2.30 billion. Consequently, the Parent Company derecognized its ‘Bills payable’ to the BSP 
amounting to P=1.29 billion and the related ‘Unearned income’ amounting to P=1.01 billion as of 
March 1, 2013.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the carrying amount of bills payable amounted to                       
P=190.63 million and P=1.51 billion, respectively.

‘Interest expense on bills payable and other borrowings’ of the Group and Parent Company in the 
statements of income amounted to P=40.28 million, P=151.77 million and P=129.76 million in 2013, 
2012 and 2011, respectively.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, bills payable are unsecured, except for the borrowing from 
the BSP, which was paid in March 2013. A government security with carrying value of P=2.94 billion 
as of December 31, 2012, included in ‘AFS financial asset, is pledged for the borrowing from the 
BSP. This pledge was released after the Parent Company paid the related borrowing.
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This account consists of (amounts in thousands):

Accrued operating expenses payable include accrual for various operating expenses such as 
payroll, repairs and maintenance, utilities, rental, insurance and contractual services.

This account consists of (amounts in thousands):

Miscellaneous liabilities consist of (amounts in thousands):
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The following tables show an analysis of assets and liabilities according to whether they are 
expected to be recovered or settled in less than twelve months or over twelve months from 
reporting date (amounts in thousands):
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19.  Equity

The Parent Company’s capital stock consists of (amounts in thousands except number of shares):

Preferred shares are cumulative, nonredeemable, nonvoting shares entitled to dividends of 8.00% 
annually from net income, subject to the declaration of the BOD and have priority in case of 
liquidation or insolvency. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, dividends in arrears on cumulative 
preferred shares amounted to P=115.57 million and P=86.68 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, ‘Capital stock’ is net of ‘Subscriptions receivable’ amounting 
to P=139.56 million and P=139.57 million, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, surplus is restricted for the payment of dividends to the extent 
of the cost of shares held in treasury amounting to P=6.76 million and P=6.64 million, respectively.

Details of the Parent Company’s dividend distribution follow:

1,906,543 1,906,543
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In 2012, the BOD approved the transfer of dividends payable amounting to P=369.44 million, which 
remained unclaimed for more than 5 years by shareholders whose existence and whereabouts could 
not be ascertained, to Appropriated surplus. In the event that any of the unlocated shareholders or their 
compulsory heirs should appear, the Office of the Board Secretary, subject to approval by the BOD, 
shall issue in their favor the accumulated cash dividends. The amount of P=369.44 million recorded 
as Appropriated surplus, an equity account, is excluded in the Parent Company’s calculation of 
‘unimpaired capital’ (regulatory net worth) as of  December 31, 2013 and 2012 as reflected in Note 4. 
The amount is also excluded in the determination of surplus available for dividend declaration as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012.

The Parent Company is continuously searching for the whereabouts of the veteran shareholders whose 
existence and whereabouts cannot be ascertained and/or their families through various World War II 
veteran associations and other organizations and channels that are and will be approved by the BOD.

Capital Management
The objective of the Parent Company’s capital management framework is to ensure that there is 
sufficient capital to support the underlying risks of its business activities and to maintain an adequately 
capitalized status under regulatory requirements.  The sufficiency of capital is measured using the 
rules and ratio established by the BSP which is also aligned with the requirements of the new Basel II 
Accord of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, which took effect with the issuance of BSP 
Circular No. 538 on July 1, 2007.

The determination of the Parent Company’s compliance with regulatory requirements and ratios is 
based on the amount of the Parent Company’s ‘unimpaired capital’ (regulatory net worth) as reported 
to the BSP, determined on the basis of regulatory accounting policies which differ from PFRS in some 
respects.

Under existing BSP regulations, the combined capital accounts of the Parent Company should not be 
less than an amount equal to 10% of its risk assets. Risk assets consist of total assets less cash on 
hand, due from BSP, loans covered by hold-out on or assignment of deposits, loans or acceptances 
under letters of credit to the extent covered by margin deposits, and other nonrisk items as determined 
by the MB of the BSP.

Under the BSP Circular No. 360, effective July 1, 2003, the CAR is to be inclusive of market risk charge.  
Using this formula, the CAR of the Parent Company as reported to the BSP as of December 31, 2013 
and 2012, considering the effects of deferral and amortization of required allowance for impairment and 
credit losses on IBCL and Accounts receivable from a thrift bank as discussed in Note 28 is 20.41% 
and 16.15%, respectively, which is in compliance with the minimum requirement of the BSP (see 
Note 4).  If the Dividends payable which were transferred to Appropriated surplus during the year will 
be excluded from the calculation of CAR as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the CAR will be 21.71% 
and 19.03%, respectively.

In 2009, the BSP issued Circular No. 639 covering the ICAAP which supplements the BSP’s                       
risk-based capital adequacy framework under BSP Circular No. 538.  BSP No. 639 is effective starting 
January 1, 2011, as extended by BSP Circular No. 677 which is also issued in 2009.  The policies and 
processes guiding the determination of the sufficiency of capital of the Parent Company have been 
incorporated to the Parent Company’s ICAAP to comply with the requirements of the BSP.  While the 
Parent Company has added the ICAAP to its capital management policies and processes, there were 
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no changes made on the objectives and policies for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 
2012.

On January 15, 2013, the BSP issued Circular No. 781, Basel III Implementing Guidelines on 
Minimum Capital Requirements, which provides the implementing guidelines on the revised             
risk-based capital adequacy framework particularly on the minimum capital and disclosure 
requirements for universal banks and commercial banks, as well as their subsidiary banks and 
quasi-banks, in accordance with the Basel III standards. The circular is effective on 
January 1, 2014.

The Circular sets out a minimum Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio of 6.0% and Tier 1 capital 
ratio of 7.5%. It also introduces a capital conservation buffer of 2.5% comprised of CET1 capital. 
The BSP’s existing requirement for Total CAR remains unchanged at 10% and these ratios shall 
be maintained at all times.

Further, existing capital instruments as of December 31, 2010 which do not meet the eligibility 
criteria for capital instruments under the revised capital framework shall no longer be recognized 
as capital upon the effectivity of Basel III. Capital instruments issued under BSP Circular Nos. 709 
and 716 (the circulars amending the definition of qualifying capital particularly on Hybrid Tier 1 
and Lower Tier 2 capitals), starting January 1, 2011 and before the effectivity of BSP Circular No. 
781, shall be recognized as qualifying capital until December 31, 2015. In addition to changes in 
minimum capital requirements, this Circular also requires various regulatory adjustments in the 
calculation of qualifying capital.

The Parent Company has a funded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan (the Plan) 
covering substantially all its officers and regular employees. Under the Plan, all covered officers 
and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements. 
The Plan also covers pre-retirement death benefit, disability benefit and voluntary and involuntary 
separation after satisfying certain conditions. The latest actuarial valuation study of the Plan was 
made on December 31, 2013.

Under the existing regulatory framework, Republic Act 7641 requires companies with at least ten 
(10) employees to pay retirement benefits to qualified private sector employees in the absence of 
any retirement plan in the entity, provided however that the employee’s retirement benefits under 
any collective bargaining and other agreements shall not be less than those provided under the 
law. The law does not require minimum funding of the plan.

The amount of retirement liability (asset) in the statement of financial position are as follows 
(amounts in thousands):

Notes to Financial Statements
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 
recognized in the statements of financial position follow:

Changes in fair value of plan assets are as follows:

The fair value of plan assets by each class are as follows:
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The Parent Company’s plan assets are carried at fair value. Investment in government and private 
securities have quoted prices in active market. The fair value of other assets and liabilities, which 
include deposits in banks, accrued interest and other receivables, approximate carrying amount due 
to the short-term nature of these accounts.

The plan assets have diverse investments and do not have any concentration risk.  

The cost of defined benefit retirement plans as well as the present value of the benefit obligation are 
determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions. 
The principal assumptions used are shown below:

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each 
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of December 31, 2013, assuming all other 
assumptions were held constant.

The amounts included in ‘Compensation and fringe benefits’ expense in the statements of income of 
the Group and Parent Company are as follows (amounts in thousands):

The average duration of the retirement liability is 18.5 years in 2013. Maturity analysis of the undiscounted 
benefit payments (in thousands):

Increase
(Decrease)

Notes to Financial Statements
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Some of the Parent Company’s branches and its subsidiaries lease their respective office premises 
under operating lease agreements.  Rentals for both the Group and the Parent Company charged 
against current operations included in ‘Occupancy’ in the statements of income amounted to 
P=57.98 million, P=54.1 million, and P=48.31 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The Parent Company entered into a contract of lease as a lessor with IPI for the rent of its office 
space located at Salcedo Street, Legaspi Village, Makati City.  The lease is for a period of one year 
commencing on January 1, 2009 and renewable every year. The Parent Company, in the parent 
company financial statements, recognized rental income amounting to P=0.35 million in 2012 and 
P=0.25 million in 2011. The lease agreement between the Parent Company and IPI expired on       
July 31, 2012.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the future minimum rentals payable under operating leases 
for the Group and Parent Company are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Under Philippine tax laws, the RBU of the Parent Company and its domestic subsidiaries are 
subject to percentage and other taxes (presented as ‘Taxes and licenses’ in the statement of 
income) as well as income taxes. Percentage and other taxes paid consist principally of gross 
receipts tax (GRT), documentary stamp taxes and value added tax.  Income taxes include corporate 
income tax, as discussed below, and final taxes paid which represent final withholding tax on 
gross interest income from government securities and other deposit substitutes and income from 
FCDU transactions.  These income taxes, as well as the deferred tax benefits and provisions, are 
presented as ‘Provision for income tax’ in the statement of income.

Current tax regulations provide that the Regular Corporate Income Tax (RCIT) rate shall be 30.00%.  
The interest expense allowed as a deductible expense shall be reduced to 33.00% of interest 
income subjected to final tax.

An MCIT of 2.00% of modified gross income is computed and compared with the RCIT.  Any 
excess of MCIT over the RCIT is deferred and can be used as a tax credit against future income 
tax liability for the next three years.  In addition, NOLCO is allowed as a deduction from taxable 
income in the next three years from the period of incurrence.

Current tax regulations also provide for the ceiling on the amount of entertainment, amusement 
and recreation (EAR) expense that can be claimed as a deduction against taxable income.  Under 
the regulations, EAR expense allowed as a deductible expense is limited to the actual EAR paid 
or incurred but not to exceed 1% of the Parent Company’s net revenue.
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FCDU offshore income (income from non-residents) is tax-exempt while gross onshore income (income 
from residents) is subject to 10% income tax. In addition, interest income on deposit placements with 
other FCDUs and offshore banking units (OBUs) is taxed at 7.50%.  Income  derived by the FCDU from 
foreign currency transactions with non-residents, OBUs, local  commercial banks including branches 
of foreign banks is tax-exempt while interest income on foreign currency loans from residents other 
than OBUs or other depository banks under the expanded system is subject to 10% income tax.

Provision for income tax consists of (amounts in thousands):

The components of the deferred tax assets - net follow (amounts in thousands):
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Details of the Group’s and Parent Company’s unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows (amounts 
in thousands):

Management believes that it is not probable that sufficient taxable income will be available in the near 
foreseeable future against which the tax benefits from the foregoing temporary differences could be 
realized.

Provision for deferred income tax charged directly to other comprehensive income during the year for 
the Group and the Parent Company follows:

Details of the Parent Company’s NOLCO follow (in thousands):

Details of the Group’s and Parent Company’s MCIT follow (amounts in thousands):
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The reconciliation of the provision for income tax computed at statutory tax rate to the provision 
for income tax presented in the statement of income follows (amounts in thousands):

As provided for in the Parent Company’s by-laws, the profit distributable to common shares shall 
be the Parent Company’s net income reduced by the following:

(a) Transfer to the surplus reserves account (20% of net income) until the surplus reserves is equal 
 to the Parent Company’s authorized capital stock;

(b) Guaranteed earnings of the preferred shares; and

(c) Appropriation of 20% of net income, after deducting (a) and (b) above, to the veteran 
 shareholders through the Board of Trustees of the Veterans of World War II, as provided in 
 Section 23 of RA No. 3518.  Total payments made to the Board of Trustees of Veterans of 
 World War II amounted to P=51.10 million, P=74.00 million and P=103.00 million in 2013, 2012 
 and 2011, respectively.

Also, as required by the BSP, the Parent Company transfers 10% of its income from trust operations 
to surplus reserves (see Note 25).

Notes to Financial Statements

23.  Disposition of Net Income



117

The basic EPS of the Group is computed as follows (amounts in thousands except EPS):

There were no dilutive potential common shares in 2013, 2012 and 2011.

The following basic ratios measure the financial performance of the Parent Company:

Securities and other properties held by the Parent Company in fiduciary or agency capacities for 
clients and beneficiaries amounting to P=9.32 billion and P=9.22 billion as of December 31, 2013 
and 2012, respectively, are not included in the accompanying statement of financial position since 
these are not assets of the Parent Company (see Note 27).

Government securities with total face value of P=109.00 million and P=102.00 million as of  
December 31, 2013 and 2012 respectively, and with total carrying value of P=110.87 million and 
P=104.12 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, are deposited with the BSP in 
compliance with existing banking regulations relative to the Parent Company’s trust functions.  
Also, as required by the BSP, the Parent Company transfers 10% of income from trust operations 
to surplus reserves until it amounts to 20% of the Parent Company’s authorized capital stock and 
no part of such surplus reserves shall at any time be paid out in dividends, but losses in the course 
of its business may be charged against such surplus.
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In the ordinary course of business, the Group has loan transactions with certain directors, officers, 
stockholders and related interests (DOSRI) within limits prescribed by the BSP.  These loans are 
made substantially on the same terms as with other individuals and businesses of comparable 
risks.

Existing banking regulations limit the amount of individual loans to DOSRI, 70% of which must be 
secured, to the total of their respective deposits and book values of their respective investments 
in the Group.  In the aggregate, loans to DOSRI generally should not exceed the lower of the total 
capital funds or 15% of the total loan portfolio. These limits do not apply to loans secured by 
assets considered as non-risk as defined in the regulations.  As of December 31, 2013, and 2012, 
the Group is in compliance with these regulatory requirements.

The following table shows information relating to the loans, other credit accommodations and 
guarantees classified as DOSRI accounts (amounts in thousands):

On January 31, 2007, BSP Circular No. 560 was issued providing the rules and regulations that 
govern loans, other credit accommodations and guarantees granted to subsidiaries and affiliates 
of banks and quasi-banks.  Under the said circular, the total outstanding exposures to each of the 
bank’s subsidiaries and affiliates shall not exceed 10% of bank’s net worth, the unsecured portion 
of which shall not exceed 5% of such net worth.  Further, the total outstanding exposures to 
subsidiaries and affiliates shall not exceed 20% of the net worth of the lending bank. BSP Circular 
No. 560 is effective starting February 15, 2007.

The transactions of the Parent Company with its subsidiaries consist mainly of regular banking 
transactions and advances for payment of various operating expenses.

IPI provides services to the Parent Company which consist principally of: (a) agreement for providing 
architectural and engineering design services, project management and property development 
studies relative to the Parent Company’s branch construction and renovation projects; and (b) 
manpower service agreement for providing qualified and trained personnel to enable efficient and 
quality oriented work in the offices of the Parent Company.

The intercompany transactions and outstanding balances below of the Parent Company with 
the subsidiaries and associate are reflected in the parent company financial statements. The 
transactions and balances with the subsidiaries are eliminated in the consolidated financial 
statements.
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Related party transactions of the Parent Company by category of related party are presented below.

Transactions with Retirement Plan
The Parent Company considers its post employment benefit plan as a related party. The 
retirement plan is administered by the Parent Company’s Trust Management Group. Carrying value of 
the fund assets of the plan are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Deposits in bank include savings deposit with the Parent Company amounting to P=1.52 million and 
PP=2.00 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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The following are the amounts recognized by the Parent Company from transactions with its 
retirement plan (amounts in thousands):

Compensation of Key Management Personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management of the Group are as follows 
(amounts in thousands):

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various commitments and incurs certain 
contingent liabilities that are not presented in the accompanying financial statements. The Group 
does not anticipate material unreserved losses as a result of these transactions.

The Parent Company and its subsidiaries are defendants in legal actions arising from normal 
business activities. Management believes that these actions are without merit or that the ultimate 
liability, if any, resulting from these will not materially affect the Group’s financial position and 
operating results.

The following is a summary of commitments and contingent liabilities at their equivalent peso 
contractual amounts (amounts in thousands):

On October 17, 2011, a consortium of eight banks including the Parent Company filed a Petition 
for Certiorari, Prohibition and/or Mandamus (with Urgent Application for a Temporary Restraining 
Order (TRO) and/or Writ of preliminary Injunction) with the Supreme Court (SC) against respondents 
the Republic of the Philippines, BIR and its Commissioner, the Department of Finance and its 
Secretary and the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) and the National Treasurer, asking that the Court annul 
BIR Ruling No. 370-2011 which imposes a 20-percent final withholding tax on the 10-year Zero-
Coupon Government Bonds (also known as the PEACe bonds) that matured on October 18, 2011 
and command the respondents to pay the full amount of the face value of the PEACe Bonds.

Notes to Financial Statements

27.  Commitments and Contingent Liabilities



121

On October 18, 2011, the SC issued the TRO enjoining the implementation of the said BIR ruling 
on the condition that the 20-percent final withholding tax be withheld by the petitioner banks and 
placed in escrow pending resolution of the Petition.  However, to date, the respondents have not 
complied with the said TRO, i.e., they have not credited the banks’ escrow accounts with the 
amount corresponding to the questioned 20-percent final tax. The case is still pending resolution 
with the SC.

On January 15, 2005, the Parent Company temporarily assumed management of BWI. In February 
2008, the MB approved the closure of BWI.  As of closure date, the Parent Company had IBCL 
to BWI totaling P=1.67 billion granted from 2004 to 2007. The Parent Company also assumed the 
uninsured deposits of BWI amounting to P=1.72 million, P=19.54 million and P=886.00 million in 2010, 
2009 and 2008, respectively, and these were recorded as accounts receivable.  Relative to these 
exposures, on February 7, 2008, the MB approved a 90-day special liquidity support amounting to 
P=2.30 billion, which was used by the Parent Company to acquire 25-year government securities.  
On May 9, 2008, such support was restructured with lower interest and extended term of 20 years 
resulting to a day 1 difference of P=1.12 billion between the initial fair value of the loan and the 
loan proceeds (Note 15).  In addition, in 2008, the BSP approved that the required allowance for 
impairment and credit losses on IBCL and accounts receivable be deferred and amortized over 20 
years.  The amortization of required allowance amounted to P=103.07 million for each of the years 
2013, 2012 and 2011. The unamortized required allowance as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 
amounted to P=2,141.57 million and P=2,233.29 million, respectively.

PFRS requires that the provision for impairment losses on IBCL and accounts receivable be 
charged against the respective years the losses were incurred.

The amendments to PFRS 7, which is effective January 1, 2013, require the Parent Company to 
disclose information about rights of offset and related arrangements (such as collateral posting 
requirements) for financial instruments under an enforceable master netting agreements or similar 
arrangements. The effects of these arrangements are disclosed in the succeeding tables (amounts 
in thousands).

Financial Assets
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Financial Liabilities

There are no accounts that are subject to offsetting arrangements as of December 31, 2013.

The amounts of IBCL and securities purchased under agreements to resell considered as cash 
and cash equivalents of the Group and Parent Company follow (amounts in thousands):

Non-cash investing activity
The Group acquired certain investment properties through foreclosure and dacion transactions 
in 2013, 2012 and 2011 amounting to P=583.10 million, P=903.43 million and P=537.53 million, 
respectively (see Note 11).  

The Parent Company also transferred certain properties to IPI in exchange for 526,320 common 
shares of IPI (see Note 9).

The accompanying financial statements of the Group and of the Parent Company were authorized 
for issue by the BOD on April 8, 2014.
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The Parent Company reported and/or paid the following types of taxes in 2013:

a.  Gross Receipts Tax (GRT)

     The Parent Company is subjected to GRT on its gross income from Philippine sources. GRT 
      is imposed on interest, fees and commissions from lending activities at 5% or 1%, depending 
      on the loan term, and at 7% on non-lending fees and commissions, trading and foreign 
     exchange gains and other items constituting gross income.

      Details of the Parent Company’s income and GRT related to the income for the year ended 
      December 31, 2013 under ‘Taxes and licenses’ in the statement of income are as follows
      (amounts in thousands):

b.  Other taxes and licenses

     Other taxes and licenses, local and national, including real estate taxes, license and permit fees 
    for 2013 under ‘Taxes and licenses’ in the statement of income follow (amounts in thousands):
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c.  Withholding taxes
           
     Withholding taxes for 2013 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

d.  Tax assessments and cases

     The Parent Company has no pending tax assessments and cases as of December 31, 2013.
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